Snowmass2021 Cosmic Frontier: Synergies between dark matter searches and multiwavelength/multimessenger astrophysics

Shin'ichiro Ando^{1,2}, Sebastian Baum³, Michael Boylan-Kolchin⁴, Esra Bulbul⁵, Michael Burgess⁵, Ilias Cholis⁶, Philip von Doetinchem⁷, JiJi Fan⁸, J. Patrick Harding^{*9}, Shunsaku Horiuchi^{†10,2}, Rebecca K. Leane^{11,12}, Oscar Macias¹, Katie Mack¹³, Kohta Murase^{14,15}, Lina Necib¹⁶, Ibles
Olcina^{17,18}, Laura Olivera-Nieto¹⁹, Jong-Chul Park²⁰, Kerstin Perez²¹, Marco Regis^{22,23}, Nicholas L. Rodd²⁴, Carsten Rott^{25,26}, Kuver Sinha²⁷, Volodymyr Takhistov², Yun-Tse Tsai¹¹, and Devin Walker^{‡28}

¹GRAPPA Institute, University of Amsterdam, 1098 XH Amsterdam, The Netherlands ²Kavli IPMU (WPI), UTIAS, The University of Tokyo, Kashiwa, Chiba 277-8583, Japan ³Stanford Institute for Theoretical Physics, Department of Physics, Stanford University, Stanford, CA 94305, USA ⁴Department of Astronomy, The University of Texas at Austin, 2515 Speedway, Stop C1400, Austin, TX, USA ⁵Max Planck Institute for Extraterrestrial Physics, 85748 Garching, Germany ⁶Department of Physics, Oakland University, Rochester, MI 48309, USA ⁷Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Hawaii at Manoa, Honolulu, HI 96822, USA ⁸Department of Physics, Brown University, Providence, RI, 02912, USA ⁹Physics Division, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, NM, USA ¹⁰Center for Neutrino Physics, Department of Physics, Virginia Tech, Blacksburg, VA 24061, USA ¹¹SLAC National Accelerator Laboratory, Stanford University, Stanford, CA 94039, USA ¹²Kavli Institute for Particle Astrophysics and Cosmology, Stanford University, Stanford, CA 94039, USA ¹³Physics Department, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC 27695, USA ¹⁴The Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA 16802, USA ¹⁵Center for Gravitational Physics, Yukawa Institute for Theoretical Physics, Kyoto University, Sakyo, Kyoto 606-8502, Japan ¹⁶Kavli Institute for Astrophysics and Space Research, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 77 Massachusetts Avenue, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA ¹⁷Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory (LBNL), Berkeley, CA 94720, USA ¹⁸University of California, Berkeley, Department of Physics, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA ¹⁹Max-Planck Institute for Nuclear Physics, 69117 Heidelberg, Germany ²⁰Department of Physics, Chungnam National University, Daejeon 34134, Republic of Korea ²¹Department of Physics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA ²²Dipartimento di Fisica, Università di Torino, via P. Giuria 1, I–10125 Torino, Italy ²³Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare, Sezione di Torino, via P. Giuria 1, I-10125 Torino, Italy ²⁴Theoretical Physics Department, CERN, 1 Esplanade des Particules, CH-1211 Geneva 23, Switzerland ²⁵Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT 84112, USA ²⁶Department of Physics, Sungkyunkwan University, Suwon 16419, Korea ²⁷Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Oklahoma, Norman, OK 73019, USA

^{*}Co-ordinator, jpharding@lanl.gov

[†]Co-ordinator, horiuchi@vt.edu

^{*}Co-ordinator, devin.g.walker@dartmouth.edu

Executive Summary

This whitepaper focuses on the astrophysical systematics which are encountered in dark matter searches. Oftentimes in indirect and also in direct dark matter searches, astrophysical systematics are a major limiting factor to sensitivity to dark matter. Just as there are many forms of dark matter searches, there are many forms of backgrounds. We attempt to cover the major systematics arising in dark matter searches using photons-radio and gamma rays-to cosmic rays, neutrinos and gravitational waves. Examples include astrophysical sources of cosmic messengers and their interactions which can mimic dark matter signatures. In turn, these depend on commensurate studies in understanding the cosmic environment—gas distributions, magnetic field configurations—as well as relevant nuclear astrophysics. We also cover the astrophysics governing celestial bodies and galaxies used to probe dark matter, from black holes to dwarf galaxies. Finally, we cover astrophysical backgrounds related to probing the dark matter distribution and kinematics, which impact a wide range of dark matter studies. In the future, the rise of multi-messenger astronomy, and novel analysis methods to exploit it for dark matter, will offer various strategic ways to continue to enhance our understanding of astrophysical backgrounds to deliver improved sensitivity to dark matter.

Contents

Introduction				
Syne	nergies in indirect searches for dark matter with cosmic messengers			
2.1	Searches with photons	6		
	2.1.1 Radio	6		
	2.1.2 Gamma rays	8		
2.2	Searches with cosmic rays	11		
	2.2.1 Anti-matter cosmic rays	12		
	2.2.2 Atmospheric collider	13		
	2.2.3 Ultrahigh energies	13		
2.3	Searches with neutrinos	14		
2.4	Searches with gravitational waves	15		
2.5	Systematics due to dark matter distribution	17		
		-		
Syne	ergies in indirect searches for dark matter with natural laboratories	18		
3.1	Searches with celestial bodies	18		
3.2	Searches with galaxies	19		
_				
Syne	ergies in direct detection of dark matter	21		
4.1	Astrophysical backgrounds	21		
	4.1.1 Probes with paleo detectors	23		
4.2	Systematics due to dark matter distribution	23		
Sunt	thesis and nevel techniques	25		
5 1	Synthesis of targets and messengers	25		
5.1 5.2	Novel techniques	23 26		
5.2	F 2.1 Angular power sportrum	20 27		
	5.2.1 Aliguial power spectrum	2/ 27		
	5.2.2 Non-Poissonian tempiate int	2/		
	5.2.3 wavelets	28		
	5.2.4 Cross correlations	28		
Con	cluding remarks	29		
	Intro Syne 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 Syne 3.1 3.2 Syne 4.1 4.2 Syne 5.1 5.2 Con	Introduction Synergies in indirect searches for dark matter with cosmic messengers 2.1 Searches with photons 2.1.1 Radio 2.1.2 Gamma rays 2.2 Searches with cosmic rays 2.2.1 Anti-matter cosmic rays 2.2.2 Atmospheric collider 2.2.3 Ultrahigh energies 2.3 Searches with neutrinos 2.4 Searches with gravitational waves 2.5 Systematics due to dark matter distribution Synergies in indirect searches for dark matter with natural laboratories 3.1 Searches with galaxies 3.2 Searches with galaxies 3.3 Searches with galaxies 3.4 Searches with galaxies 3.5 Systematics due to dark matter distribution Synergies in direct detection of dark matter 4.1 Astrophysical backgrounds 4.1.1 Probes with paleo detectors 4.2 Systematics due to dark matter distribution 5.1 Synthesis of targets and messengers 5.2 Novel techniques 5.2.1 Angular power spectrum 5.2.2 Non-Poissonian template fit 5.2.3 Wavelets 5.2.4 Cross correlations		

1 Introduction

Searches for dark matter (DM) are often driven by the ability of a particular experiment or set of experiments to observe the DM signal in its data. However, these searches are limited by our understanding of the experimental backgrounds and astrophysical systematic uncertainties surrounding the DM and its environment. *In many ways, the search for signals from DM is the search to understand all emission which is not due to DM so the DM may shine through.* In this white paper, we will give an overview of the experimental and astrophysical backgrounds that can affect DM searches and the many ways that multiwavelength and multimessenger analysis can help identify, quantify, and remove these backgrounds to DM searches.

Below, we first provide an overview of three areas of DM search which can be improved through more careful understanding of the environments surrounding the DM - searches with cosmic messengers, searches in natural laboratories, and terrestrial searches for DM. With cosmic messengers, DM is being explored via "indirect detection"; here, DM is annihilating or decaying into Standard Model particles in an astrophysical environment which are then detected at Earth. Natural laboratories considers the extreme energies and distances accessible in astrophysical objects which can be altered due to the presence of DM. Finally, in terrestrial searches, DM "direct detection" is observed through DM interaction with matter on Earth.

In all three areas of DM search covered here, there are large systematic uncertainties and backgrounds which need to be accounted for and reduced. In many of these cases, this can be addressed best through the use of multimessenger and multiwavelength astrophysical observations. Indeed, one experiment's background is another experiment's signal. Additionally, different techniques for probing astrophysics have different sources of uncertainty and different observables, which when combined can minimize experimental uncertainties. Tapping into the development of multiwavelength and multimessenger astrophysics provides powerful opportunities and solutions to address the needs of DM searches in the years to come.

Cosmic messengers

The indirect detection of DM involves searches for Standard Model particles produced when DM annihilates or decays. These particles then travel to Earth where they are observed as an excess of experimental counts in the direction of the DM source. However, the interpretation of such observations as a DM signal is sensitive to a number of astrophysical assumptions. The morphology of the DM source, as well as its total DM density, can affect the interpreted DM cross-section or decay lifetime. The effects of particle propagation through the cosmos must be carefully understood to extract the energy spectrum and annihilation/decay final states of the DM at its source. For charged particles, it is also vital to understand propagation to extract the source positions from the particles' arrival directions.

Each wavelength and messenger has different uncertainties and different strengths. Radio waves can observe synchrotron emission from pulsars but also from DM-produced e^+/e^- pairs. Gamma-rays can show the most energetic astrophysical environments and

DM annihilation spectra. Cosmic rays can probe particle transport in the galaxy as well as DM emission near the Earth. Neutrinos can be used to observe signals from distant high-energy sources and can probe the DM content of dense objects such as the Sun. Gravitational waves can provide information about black hole mergers but also black hole DM.

Many signatures from Standard Model particles and astrophysical processes can mimic DM behavior. Nuclei have transition lines that are similar to DM decay lines. Cosmic positrons and gamma-rays from pulsars can have similar energies to those from DM. Gamma rays from supernova remnants can cause excess counts in even the most DM-rich galaxies. However, multiwavelength and multimessenger analyses are an ideal way to break these degeneracies in the data. A careful measurement of the interstellar magnetic field can improve both particle propagation concerns and reduce correlations between radio synchrotron observations and DM-produced e^+/e^- pairs. Better understanding of energy spectral and spatial morphological information can distinguish DM versus astrophysical explanations of gamma-ray signals which may cover up those from DM. Better quantification of nuclear abundances can show which line signals may be from DM. Joint experimental analysis and correlation between disparate datasets will be the hallmark of the next generation of DM searches.

Natural laboratories

Similar to searches with cosmic messengers, natural laboratory searches for DM take place at astrophysical distances through interactions with Standard Model particles. However, instead of searching for DM annihilation or decay into those particles, these environments are directly modified due to the presence of DM. Due to the extreme environments encountered —for example, extreme mass densities, temperatures, particle energies, just to name a few—astrophysical objects can be extremely sensitive to DM properties, more so than terrestrial experiments. However, the complication is the need to understand the astrophysical manifestation of Standard Model processes, which often lacks a full firstprinciples understanding due to the extreme scales involved. DM can cause the collapse of massive stars leading to modified nucleosynthesis or produce a previously unobserved class of quasars. On cosmic scales, DM can even affect the morphology of galaxies. Either in environments at extreme density and temperatures, or at cosmological distances and timescales, DM can shape its environment in ways that can provide unique insight into its nature.

Terrestrial searches

Direct detection searches for DM are often viewed as an alternative to astrophysical searches. Taking place on Earth, these experiments directly probe the nature of DM in a laboratory. However, even in direct detection experiments, the source of the DM is still astrophysical - the DM being probed is the DM halo surrounding the Earth and passing through it. And these DM have also affected and have been affected by astrophysical environments, as discussed above. More specifically, direct DM searches are sensitive to the velocity and spatial distribution of the DM in addition to its mass and nuclear coupling.

Additionally, most direct detection DM searches have large backgrounds of astrophysical origin. Neutrinos, muons, and charged cosmic ray nuclei can pass through the Earth and mimic a DM signature. By correlating data from multimessenger and multiwavelength astrophysical experiments, these direct detection observatories can best minimize these backgrounds and search for DM interactions to even greater levels.

2 Synergies in indirect searches for dark matter with cosmic messengers

Cosmic messengers are the primary method by which DM can be probed indirectly using astrophysical phenomena. Traditionally, photons and cosmic rays have been the messengers of choice largely due to their ease of detection, but in recent years they have been augmented by the rise of neutrino observatories and gravitational wave detections. In this section, we detail the important backgrounds encountered in when searching for DM with these cosmic messengers.

2.1 Searches with photons

Contributors: Esra Bulbul, Ilias Cholis, Shunsaku Horiuchi, Oscar Macias, Kohta Murase, Kerstin Perez, Marco Regis

Among the cosmic messengers, photon detectors often deliver the most exquisite timing, angular, and energy resolutions. On the other hand, most if not all astrophysical objects/processes are prominent emitters of photons, which impact dark matter searches. In this section, we focus on two wavelengths—radio and gamma rays—which in particular hold significant promise for reducing astrophysical systematics in the future.

2.1.1 Radio

A variety of DM candidates are expected to show potentially detectable signatures at radio frequencies. The search technique and the systematic uncertainties related to the description of the astrophysical backgrounds strongly depend on the specific signature under investigation. Here we outline three relevant cases.

• WIMPs and continuum synchrotron radiation: DM particles with mass in the GeV-TeV regime can inject fluxes of primary and secondary high-energy electrons and positrons through annihilation or decay. Emitted into regions with ambient magnetic field at the μ G level, such electrons and positrons give raise to a synchrotron radiation peaked in the radio band. In order to characterize the e^+/e^- equilibrium density, a good knowledge of the interstellar medium and of the turbulent and regular components of the magnetic field are needed.

The former allows to compute the energy losses associated to the cooling of e^+/e^- , while the latter is fundamental in the description of diffusion processes. Since the

synchrotron signal comes from a convolution of the e^+/e^- distribution with the magnetic field, the strength and spatial distribution of the latter are crucial ingredients. The spatial distribution of the emission depends on the DM spatial profile, on the e^+/e^- transport, and on the morphology of the magnetic field. The frequency spectrum is typically more curved than a power-law, but no striking spectral features are present. Therefore, the disentanglement of the DM signal from an astrophysical emission might be rather awkward. This dictates the search to focus on regions with faint backgrounds [1], with the complication that those regions typically show low magnetic fields, whilst a significant magnetic strength is needed. The measurement of the magnetic field in dark structures (such as in dSph galaxies or in the external suburb of spiral galaxies and clusters) is a challenge, but a great advancement is expected in the coming years thanks to Faraday rotation measures of next-generation telescopes, such as the SKA [2].

• Axion-like particles and spectral lines: Axion-like particles (or dark photons) with mass around μ eV can decay or convert into radio waves. The ALP-photon conversion (also called Primakoff effect) is particularly promising in objects having magnetic fields with significant strength and small coherence scale, e.g., magnetospheres of neutron stars [3–5]; see also section 3.1. The uncertainties on the theoretical prediction of the signal can be rather large and related to: a) the description of the magnetosphere (which requires both observations and simulations), b) the propagation of the radio photons generated from the conversion (a subject that is currently under quite active investigation in the community, see, e.g., [6]) and 3) the DM density in these objects. In large-scale astrophysical environments, where the coherence scale of the magnetic field is larger, the rate of stimulated ALP decay into two photons [7] supersedes that of ALP-photon conversion. Here the uncertainties can be lower, as they are related to the description of the ambient photon field (responsible for the stimulated decay), which is reconstructed through the observed continuum flux of the source. Also dark photon DM can oscillate resonantly into photons in thermal plasma, if the plasma frequency matches the dark photon mass. This might happen around stars, and the uncertainties in the model prediction are related to the description of the plasma properties and of the DM density in the stellar environments.

In all above cases, the signal is a spectral line with expected width $\sim \sigma_v/c \sim 10^{-2} - 10^{-4}$, where the DM velocity dispersion σ_v ranges from $\sim 10^3$ km/s in galaxy clusters to ~ 10 km/s in dSph. The experimental challenges involve the requirement of high frequency/angular resolution for the telescope, and the disentanglement of the DM-induced line from other radio lines that might be present in the field.

• Ultra-light bosons and polarimetry: The coupling between photons and ultra-light bosons can lead the left- and the right-circularly polarized light to travel at different velocities when crossing a DM halo (the birefringence effect [8]). This results in an achromatic rotation of the plane of polarization of linearly polarized light. Spectro-polarimetric observations at GHz-frequencies can be used to constrain DM candidates around the "fuzzy" DM mass scale [9]. The key requirement is high sensitivity asso-

ciated to rotation measures, as well as high spectral and angular resolutions.

2.1.2 Gamma rays

Gamma rays cover an ideal energy range for proving a range of DM candidates, including weak-scale DM and heavy DM. As such, substantial efforts have been devoted to search for continuous gamma rays, gamma-ray lines, and other more exotic signatures. It is crucial to construct improved astrophysical background models that allow a robust detection of these potential signals [10]. Table 1 summarizes the important background considerations: (i) the Galactic diffuse emission, due to interactions of energetic cosmic-ray particles with interstellar gas and radiation fields; (ii) unresolved/sub-threshold point sources, due to limited sensitivity of the gamma-ray facilities; and (iii) instrumental backgrounds. We show examples of DM search with gamma rays and which backgrounds are most relevant for them.

	Galactic diffuse	Unresolved	Instrumental
	emission	Sources	Systematics
MeV DM	•	•	
GeV DM @GC	•	•	
GeV DM @M31	•	•	
GeV DM @dSphs			•
GeV DM @clusters		•	
Heavy DM		•	•

Table 1: Summary of DM searches with gamma rays and the main categories of backgrounds. Bullet points illustrate the main relevant backgrounds; other backgrounds can still be relevant under specific conditions. Here, heavy DM refers to DM above the electroweak scale.

Background systematics

We first broadly cover the 3 categories of backgrounds and approaches to model them:

- 1. **Galactic diffuse emission:** is by far the most important and complicated background in DM searches with gamma rays. It arises from the interactions of energetic cosmicray particles with interstellar gas and radiation fields. In the literature, there are broadly two strategies to model it: (i) numerically solving cosmic-ray transport, e.g., [11]; and (ii) data-driven phenomenological model, e.g., [12]. In both cases, the single most important challenge in generating accurate Galactic diffuse emission models remains obtaining accurate distributions of input ingredients, e.g., cosmic-ray sources, magnetic fields, and target gas densities.
- 2. **Unresolved sources:** The cumulative emission of unresolved astrophysical gammaray sources could give rise to a significant diffuse background component which is challenging to model. Recent developments and future directions are discussed in Sec. 5.2.

3. **Instrumental systematics:** Typically, when searching for DM in crowded locations, such as the Galactic Center of the Milky Way galaxy, the dominant source of background is astrophysical. However, when pushing the sensitivity to DM down to the limits of detector capabilities, the issue of detector systematics grows. Examples of this include the use of gamma-ray quiet sources like dwarf galaxies, or using parts of sky with a lot less astrophysical gamma rays, e.g., high latitude regions. In turn, detector systematics varies widely depending on the gamma-ray energy range, detector technology, and also potentially target location. We do not attempt to cover the myriad of detectors and search situations here. Instead, in Sec. 5.1, we cover ideas for dealing with instrumental systematics in the context of combining or comparing results from multiple instruments.

Thus, improving the Galactic diffuse emission model is of primary importance for increasing the sensitivity of gamma rays to DM searches. Key progress in the future are:

- Improved gas maps: Three-dimensional maps of atomic hydrogen (H*I*) are needed. Current maps are limited by *avoidable* simplifying assumptions such as idealized kinematics (assuming the gas follows circular orbits), and neglecting absorption features in the data [13]. Biases introduced by these assumptions are some of the largest for extracting properties of the Fermi GeV excess (see accompanying dedicated whitepaper [14]). One solution [13, 15] is to construct physically-motivated gas velocity profiles with hydrodynamic simulations, and solving the full radiative transfer equation (i.e., including 21-cm line emission, absorption, and continuous emission). This remains promising avenue for the future. Another direction is the development of new 3-D dust maps [16] which may be of great benefit due to a known correlation between dust and gas.
- Improved gas models: Molecular hydrogen cannot be measured directly. Instead, it is assumed to be well mixed with carbon monoxide (CO), which in turn can be traced by its 2.6 mm emission line. One of the necessary assumptions is that the H2 gas column density is proportional to the CO gas column density. However, studies [17, 18] have shown that this molecular-hydrogen-to-CO conversion factor (X_{CO}) could vary significantly with distance. It is essential to find better tracers of Galactic H2 gas material and/or get an improved handle on the behaviour of the X_{CO} in the Galactic environment. In addition analyses that marginalize over all possible configurations of H2 maps need to continue being developed.
- Improved models for the interstellar radiation fields (ISRF): the distribution of low-energy ambient photons (emitted by stars and re-emitted by dust) is a key ingredient in determining the spectrum and spatial morphology of the inverse Compton emission. State-of-the-art ISRF models include anisotropic features such as galactic arms and stellar bulge [19]. The inverse-Compton component shows strong degeneracy with the Fermi GeV excess [20] and thus further updates on the ISRF from multi-wavelength dataset will be important.
- **Improved models and marginalization over Galactic magnetic fields:** Cosmic-ray electrons/positrons lose energy efficiently by gyrating in the Galactic magnetic fields.

The uncertainty of current models for the random and regular magnetic fields in the Galaxy are large and may explain significant fractions of the Fermi GeV excess [21]. It would be significant to advance the modeling of the total/polarized synchrotron radiation in order to separate these from other components. Obtaining better models for the magnetic fields will require global fits to the data in which diffuse gamma rays and radio (MHz–GHz) observations are considered.

- **Beyond** *steady-state* **solutions of the cosmic-ray transport equation:** The inverse-Compton maps generally used in the community are constructed under the assumption of *steady-state* spatial distribution of sources and injection luminosities. However, the steady-state assumption breaks down for electrons/positrons with energies larger than approximately 100 GeV because of their short cooling times [11]. Dedicated modeling and data-analyses efforts will be required to obtain more realistic inverse Compton maps which agree with multi-messenger observations. Also, the effects of anisotropic diffusion of cosmic rays associated with the large scale morphology of the galactic magnetic fields need to be accounted for. Anisotropic diffusion can have an impact also on the morphology of the inverse-Compton scattering maps [22].
- **Improved models for cosmic-ray sources:** this includes source types and their respective spectra as well as spatial distributions. Some sources are largely leptonic (e.g., pulsars) while others produce all species of cosmic rays (e.g., supernova remnants). Also, these sources may enrich the ISM with distinctively different injection cosmic-ray spectra. Marginalizing over these uncertainties may be a solution going forward [23, 24].
- **High resolution simulations and multi-messenger fitting:** One solution to that is building up new physically motivated and high resolution galactic diffuse emission models. This is a complicated task requiring new modeling techniques, fits to new multi-wavelength data, and substantial computing resources. One critical improvement will be increasing the resolution of gas maps. Moreover, creating a multitude of galactic diffuse emission models for the inner galaxy allows to test a potential dark matter signal under a sequence of physical hypotheses and thus can alleviate any bias that may be introduced from any single one background emission model [23, 24].

Diffuse quasi-isotropic gamma-ray background

Searching for gamma rays in the diffuse gamma-ray background will enable us to probe heavy dark matter at GeV-TeV energies and above. *However, astrophysical contributions often dominate the signal making their understanding crucial for making progress.*

The extragalactic gamma-ray background has been measured by the *Fermi* gamma-ray satellite [25], and about half of the sub-TeV gamma rays originates from blazars. The isotropic component of the diffuse component is so-called the isotropic diffuse gamma-ray background (IGRB), which includes contributions from unresolved point sources such as blazars [26–28], cosmogenic gamma rays induced by cosmic rays, and any unaccounted-

for Galactic emission. Thus, there is a rich mixture of backgrounds that need to be understood. For example:

- The IGRB has been used for constraints on annihilating DM [29–32]. Depending on the clumping factor from DM substructures [33], a fraction of the IGRB could come from DM, and understanding astrophysical contributions to the IGRB as well as accurate modeling of the substructures are relevant for probing annihilating DM in the GeV-TeV range.
- The IGRB measured by *Fermi* is powerful for heavy DM with masses above TeV energies [34–39]. Extragalactic gamma rays initiate electromagnetic cascades in intergalactic space, and eventually contribute to the GeV-TeV IGRB. Cascade constraints are applicable to TeV or higher DM masses, up to even GUT scales with $10^{15} 10^{16}$ GeV [36, 37]. Knowledge of intergalactic photon fields and magnetic fields are crucial for accurate cascade calculations.
- For decaying DM, both Galactic and extragalactic components contribute to the IGRB, and the Galactic contribution is crucial to constrain heavy DM with masses above TeV energies. Galactic gamma rays can reach Earth without strong attenuation via two-photon annihilation with the cosmic microwave background radiation, and they provide a powerful probe of heavy DM [40–43].

On the observation side, air-shower arrays, which are presumably cosmic-ray detectors such as KASCADE, have been used to place constraints on heavy DM in the sub-PeV range [44–47]. Water Cherenkov detectors such as HAWC have also provided useful constraints in the 10-100 TeV range [48]. Recently, the Tibet AS γ experiment reported the detection of diffuse Galactic gamma-ray emission [49], and searches for high-latitude gamma-ray emission will be crucial for testing DM models for IceCube neutrinos (see section 2.3). LHAASO [50] will provide more stringent constraints on decaying DM.

Finally, gamma-ray probes are intricately connected to cosmic-ray physics. Cosmic rays produced inside the Galactic plane may propagate into the halo region, but the detailed properties are uncertain. Revealing the roles of cosmic rays, including their feedback, in the halo region will help us to better model Galactic diffuse emission as well as to improve sensitivities to heavy DM.

2.2 Searches with cosmic rays

Contributors: Ilias Cholis, Peter von Doetinchem, Kohta Murase, Volodymyr Takhistov

In addition to time and energy information, cosmic rays contain rich composition information, including anti-particles. Observations of cosmic rays also reach substantially higher energies than other messenger particles, approaching $\sim 10^{20}$ eV limited only by their energy losses on the CMB. Thus, they remain a powerfully unique diagnostic of new physics. However, they also come with unique nuclear and astrophysical challenges, as described below.

2.2.1 Anti-matter cosmic rays

Antimatter cosmic rays remain a major probe for the search of exotic physics in the Milky Way. Antiprotons and positrons are the only species observed by cosmic-ray detectors so far. Detailed models and simulations for the possible astrophysical sources of such species as close-by pulsars and supernova remnants need to be developed that envelope the uncertainties on the physical properties of these sources; which includes their distribution in space, their power output including its time-evolution, the type of particles they inject into the interstellar medium and their respective spectra. Also models need to include the uncertainties of cosmic-ray propagation through the interstellar medium and the heliosphere [51–58]. As such sources appear in a stochastic manner in space and time only simulations that account for that and probe their properties as an averaged population can be reliably developed as e.g. [55, 58].

In addition, a recent excess in ~ 10 GeV energy antiprotons observed by *AMS-02* has been claimed [59, 60]. That excess is quite robust to the astrophysical uncertainties of local cosmic-ray propagation and cross-sectional uncertainties and suggest a signal of dark matter with similar properties to those required to explain the galactic center excess [61– 63]. However, a full scrutiny on the systematic errors of the *AMS-02* instrument remains a necessity [64, 65]. Further discussions between the experimental and theoretical communities, in order to achieve a better modeling of the correlation matrix of the instrumental systematic *AMS-02* errors, would allow us to settle on whether the antiproton excess is of instrumental or of astrophysical origin. Of those errors likely the most significant in the ~ 10 GeV energy range of the antiproton excess are the effective acceptance and the nucleon-nucleon cross-section vs energy assumptions.

Finally, the possible detection of antideuteron or anti-helium cosmic-rays by AMS-02 or GAPS will have a profound impact on our ability to probe dark matter in the Milky Way as the astrophysical backgrounds for such cosmic rays are strongly suppressed [66– 69]. If GAPS with its expected ~ 3 month flight is successful in providing a sensitivity at lower antideuteron energies to that of AMS-02, follow-up observations will be of great value. As GAPS will be sensitive at O(0.1) GeV in kinetic energy per nucleon, cosmicray propagation uncertainties and especially those through the heliosphere responsible for the time-dependent solar modulation of cosmic rays, will need to be further reduced. To that end the AMS-02 time-dependent measurements [70, 71] can be of great importance [72–74]. Moreover, significant reduction on the production cross-section uncertainties for these species will be of paramount importance [75]. To that end, a better modeling of the forward production of cosmic rays in the collision reference frame and a better understanding of the coalescence model implemented and possible corrections to it will be important. Further measurements from fixed target accelerator experiments in a range of energies with the capacity to detect antiproton, antideuteron and anti-helium nuclei (such as those presented in [76, 77]) will be of great benefit to achieve those reduced crosssectional uncertainties. Examples of such experiments are discussed in Refs. [78-80]. A more detailed discussion of these cross-sections can be found in Section 4 of the white paper "Snowmass2021 Cosmic Frontier: The landscape of cosmic-ray and high-energy photon probes of particle dark matter" [81].

Cosmic rays interacting along our line of sight could serve as sensitive astrophysical

messengers [82–85]. Cosmic rays directly colliding with DM can allow probing novel parameter space compared to conventional searches [86–90]. If DM carries an electric charge it could be accelerated in astrophysical environments such as supernovae remnants akin to standard cosmic rays [91, 92], providing "dark cosmic ray" [93] messengers that can be effectively studied in neutrino laboratories.

2.2.2 Atmospheric collider

Collisions of energetic cosmic rays provide a natural laboratory for exploration of DM and new physics. As isotropic cosmic ray flux collides with the atmosphere, in analogy with conventional colliders, copious amounts of particles are produced. The "atmospheric collider" has been historically employed as a central tool for analyzing neutrinos, leading to discovery of neutrino oscillations [94]. Recently, atmospheric collider has been identified as a unique tool for novel exploration of light dark matter [95], milli-charge (DM) particles [96, 97] and magnetic monopoles [98]. Unlike conventional colliders, atmospheric collider is always on and provides a robust universal flux of particles for all terrestrial experiments. This allows to make direct comparisons, challenging to do otherwise, of ambient flux searches with e.g. collider searches. Further explorations as well as more detailed simulation studies are needed to explore fully capabilities and complementary with other searches of atmospheric collider.

2.2.3 Ultrahigh energies

The origin of ultrahigh-energy cosmic rays (UHECRs)—cosmic rays reaching $\sim 10^{20}$ eV—remains unknown. However, the existence of a spectral cutoff around 50 - 60 EeV [99–101] strongly supports their astrophysical origin; top-down scenarios [102], including super-heavy DM models [103, 104], for the dominant origin of UHECRs are very unlikely. Nevertheless, this does not spoil the possibility that DM is super-heavy. Super-heavy DM, whose masses may be in the GUT scale, can be produced via various scenarios, e.g., gravitational production in the early universe [105, 106]. It is possible that such heavy DM is meta-stable, and the DM could give a sub-dominant contribution to the UHECR flux [107]. In the decaying DM scenario, the Galactic contribution is important [108], and protons and neutrons from the Galactic halo are not depleted. The UHECR data, especially above the cutoff, provide constraints on super-heavy DM, which are complementary to neutrino and gamma-ray limits.

In the future, revealing UHECR sources will enable us to explore large parameter spaces through spectral and anisotropy observations. It is important to also better understand intergalactic magnetic fields, which affects UHECR propagation, as well as uncertainties in photonuclear reactions, which impacts UHECR energy loss and composition changes, and questions such as the transition from Galactic to extragalactic flux components. Also, since UHECRs from decaying DM are dominated by protons and neutrons, better understanding of the UHECR composition will be helpful.

Future probes also stand to benefit from multi-messenger astronomy. For example, constraints on decaying DM depend on the final states which are unknown. If the DM decays into Standard Model particles, only a fraction of them can be nucleons, while a

large fraction of the parent DM energy can be carried by ultrahigh-energy gamma rays and neutrinos [109–111]. UHECR observations are also sensitive to ultrahigh-energy gamma-rays and neutrinos, providing another probe of super-heavy DM [112].

2.3 Searches with neutrinos

Contributors: Shunsaku Horiuchi, Kohta Murase, Jong-Chul Park, Carsten Rott, Volodymyr Takhistov, Yun-Tse Tsai

Depending on the scenario, DM can manifest in neutrinos over a broad spectrum of energies, making neutrino telescopes excellent instruments for indirect DM detection. The Super-Kamiokande large underground water Cherenkov experiment provides fruitful detection prospects for DM-associated neutrino signatures from above 30 MeV to well over TeV, coming from WIMPs with masses of ~GeV to ~TeV. Characteristic WIMP annihilation channels include $b\overline{b}$, W^+W^- , $\mu^+\mu^-$ and $\nu\overline{\nu}$. Stringent limits have been placed by Super-Kamiokande and IceCube on signatures associated with annihilation of DM in the Sun [113, 114] as well as Galactic Center [115–117]. Atmospheric neutrinos constitute a significant source of background for these searches [118, 119]. While this is generally well-known around GeV-TeV energies, there remains systematic uncertainties arising from interaction cross-sections and complicated channels at higher and lower energies. In the next decade solar DM searches will also face a background of atmospheric neutrinos in the solar atmosphere, resulting in a solar atmospheric neutrino floor [120–123]. Energy resolution would be the key to distinguish these from a DM signal by exploiting the differences in energy spectra. On the other hand, searches for solar DM are extremely robust against astrophysical uncertainties in the underlying DM velocity distribution [124–126].

Aside from traditional searches for DM annihilations, neutrino telescopes can be readily exploited to explore other DM scenarios. For example, Super-Kamiokande has set leading limits on boosted DM originating from the Sun and Galactic Center [127–131] as well as "dark cosmic rays" of DM carrying electric charge and accelerated in astrophysical sources [93]. In addition, the Deep Underground Neutrino Experiment (DUNE), the next-generation neutrino detector based on the technology of liquid-argon time-projection chamber (LArTPC), is evaluating its sensitivity to boosted DM through electron and/or hadronic scatterings [132–137]. Although neutrino detectors have higher detection thresholds than conventional direct DM detectors, neutrino detectors are more massive and detectors based on different technologies can probe complementary parameter space [134].

Since boosted DM and their signatures span a wide energy range, the important backgrounds also vary. While atmospheric and astrophysical neutrinos are the main background in the energy range greater than sub-GeV, solar neutrinos and radiological background have significant impacts on MeV-scale signals. Knowledge of neutrino fluxes from natural sources and of aforementioned neutrino interaction cross sections will enhance the sensitivity on boosted DM searches. In particular, sophisticated analysis techniques require reconstructed kinematics to discriminate signal from background, and understanding kinematics of neutrino interactions via related cross section measurements will be beneficial. Further, boosted DM searches through hadronic scattering often look for signatures similar to neutral-current neutrino interactions, and an efficient muon-pion separation will help reduce the contribution from current-current events. In the MeV regime, the radiological background makes the triggering system challenging, and to cope with this situation, a number of ideas inspired by conventional DM search experiments, such as deploying underground argon in LArTPC-based detectors to reduce Ar 39 isotopes, are being discussed.

The observed IceCube neutrinos are most likely astrophysical, which is supported by the reported coincidences with some astrophysical sources [138]. Nevertheless, heavy DM could contribute to the diffuse neutrino flux, and various DM models have been discussed in light of the IceCube data. Because of the unitarity bound, many scenarios rely on DM decay into SM particles [41, 139–147]. The diffuse neutrino flux is measured over a wide energy range from 10 TeV to PeV energies, in which decaying DM scenarios involving quarks in the final state are in tension with the IGRB data [41], especially for models explaining the 10-100 TeV neutrino flux. Neutrinophilic DM or DM decaying into non-SM particles may evade the present gamma-ray constraints with a partial contribution to the IceCube neutrino flux [139, 143, 148–150], and signatures of neutrino-DM scattering are also considered [151, 152]. The IceCube experiment also has provided stringent limits on neutrino signatures associated with annihilation [153] or decay [154] of DM.

Even if heavy DM is not responsible for the bulk of the diffuse neutrino flux, neutrino searches with IceCube/KM3Net/Baikal-GVD are powerful for DM with mass ranges above TeV energies. Neutrinos can reach Earth even at ultrahigh energies, where the atmospheric neutrino background is negligibly small and the astrophysical background from cosmogenic neutrinos may also be low depending on the UHECR composition. Ultrahigh-energy neutrinos serve as a powerful probe of heavy DM even at the GUT or Planck scale, and their searches with various neutrino and UHECR detectors such as Auger are complementary to gamma-ray and cosmic-ray observations [155].

Better understanding of the origin of the diffuse neutrino flux will enable us to further explore the parameter space of heavy DM. Resolving the sources of IceCube neutrinos and improving the modeling of astrophysical components can be used to improve the constraints on the annihilating cross section and decay lifetime. In either DM annihilation or decay, DM models predict anisotropy following the Galactic DM distribution [156], which can be tested with more statistics achieved by upcoming neutrino observations.

Individual source searches are also useful, and local DM halos such as galaxy clusters (e.g., Virgo) and galaxies (e.g., M31) will provide complementary tests for the DM contribution to the diffuse neutrino flux [41]. This will be discussed later, and it has great synergies with neutrino frontier white paper on "natural source".

2.4 Searches with gravitational waves

Contributors: Ilias Cholis, Kuver Sinha, Volodymyr Takhistov

Gravitational waves (GWs) can be used to search for primordial black holes (PBHs) with masses between ~ 1 and several 100 solar masses [157–159]. The current and upcoming GW observatories, can be used to search for and constrain the stellar mass range of that wide mass spectrum. In the mass ranges of the current and upcoming GW observato-

ries, PBHs could contribute a sizable fraction of DM energy density $f = \Omega_{\rm PBH}/\Omega_{\rm DM}$ [160–165], with GW data suggesting $f \lesssim \mathcal{O}(10^{-3})$ [157, 158, 166, 167], although uncertainties remain [168] and need to be explored further. Variety of handles can be used to discriminate PBHs with astrophysical BHs (ABHs) via GW observations:

- The mass spectrum of the detected GW events. With upcoming LIGO / VIRGO / KAGRA observations the BH mass spectrum will be measured with unprecedented precision. PBHs may cause a break, a bump or multiple bumps in that mass spectrum [169, 170].
- The spin of PBHs, which could be significant [171–173], and how that evolves with time [174] and for different dark matter halo masses. Spinning PBHs will also be distinguishable by their associated emission signatures such as jets [175].
- Merger rates and formation of PBH vs. ABH binaries. PBH-PBH binaries can receive significant contributions from the late Universe [157] as well as early Universe before matter-radiation equality [158]. In contrast, PBH-NS binaries follow stellar evolution and can only form at low redshifts. As demonstrated in [176], PBH-NS merger rates are subdominant to the astrophysical BH-NS merger rates, suggesting that such identified events are of astrophysical origin even if PBH-PBH mergers significantly contribute to the GW data.
- Recently observed merger events by LIGO/Virgo, including GW170817 [177], GW190425 [178], GW190521 [179], and GW190814 [180], were discussed to be potential NS-PBH [164] or BH-PBH/PBH-PBH merger events [181]. NSs and PBHs of similar mass, or transmuted BHs from DM consuming NSs, are difficult to distinguish individually with GWs [182]. Statistical test allows to establish the origin of such events [183]. The excellent localization of GW170817 from the multi-messenger measurements provide detailed environmental information to test such hypothesis [164].
- Searching for events with non-zero eccentricities. Such non-zero eccentricity events are expected from merging of PBH binaries [184, 185]. However, BH binaries in dense stellar environments as globular clusters or nuclear stellar clusters and at the environments around the central super-massive black holes of galaxies may also contribute [186, 187].
- The GW stochastic background at LIGO and future GW observatories. PBH binaries existed and merged at far greater cosmological redshifts than regular stellar mass BHs and can contribute to the GW stochastic background at frequencies where it is suppressed [188]. Even more so, the mechanism(s) responsible for the formation of PBHs may give a significant contribution to the GW background to be measured by LISA and pulsar timing arrays [189, 190].

To explore the above, a deeper understanding of astrophysical backgrounds i.e. the merger rates and properties of binaries composed of ABHs is required. In particular, the environments where ABH binaries exist, binary formation channels as well as evolution to their detected mergers needs to be extensively modeled.

Beyond GWs, stellar and intermediate-mass BHs can be naturally accompanied by radiation emission associated with accretion disk formation [163, 165] as well as outflows such as jets [175]. This can result in variety of observable signatures, including heating of interstellar medium gas [163, 165, 175], which can be used to explore and constrain PBHs over a wide mass-range.

2.5 Systematics due to dark matter distribution

Contributors: Shin'ichiro Ando, Ilias Cholis, Lina Necib

Indirect detection depends on the density of DM at the location in which DM is expected to decay or annihilate. Such locations are the Galactic Center, dwarf satellite galaxies, nearby galaxies such as Andromeda, or galaxy clusters. However, correctly estimating the DM density profiles is dominated by uncertainties, which we tackle below for the targets that can give the most competitive limits.

- Galactic center The galactic center or inner galaxy due to its great astrophysical complexity is oftentimes analyzed by imposing masks that extract from the analysis of point sources and dense interstellar medium gas regions. Such masks remove from the analysis also regions where the dark matter distribution may be the highest. Regions at latitudes above the Galactic disk may be preferable in searching for a dark matter signal. Such regions can still be sensitive in probing the dark matter signal and its distribution profile [23, 24, 191]. However, to robustly probe the inner degrees of the Galaxy the use of novel techniques in masking point sources or modeling them independently will be necessary.
- Dwarf galaxies density profiles Estimating the density of DM in dwarf galaxies challenging, as the only information available is the line-of-sight measurements of the velocities of member stars. One of the most commonly used methods to extract the DM density profile from the stellar line-of-sight velocities is Jeans analysis [192], where assumptions about equilibrium, sphericity, and isotropy of these systems have to be made. [193, 194] present these issues using idealized mocks, where even in spherical, isotropic systems in equilibrium, a large number of stellar measurements (order of 10,000 stars) is required to robustly disentangle a core from a cusp. Alternatively, mass estimators methods [195, 196], rotation curves [197, 198], the use of higher order moments of the velocities, the possible inclusion of proper motions when available [194, 199, 200], and non-spherical mass modeling [201] are being pursued to reduce the systematic uncertainties of the DM density profiles, making it an active area of research. It is also pointed out that adopting realistic priors will have a large impact on the estimate of density profiles for the ultrafaint dwarf galaxies [202].

3 Synergies in indirect searches for dark matter with natural laboratories

Nature provides extreme environments which are far beyond the capabilities of terrestrial detectors, and these can be advantageously used for DM search. For example, the core of a core-collapse supernova reach nuclear densities and MeV thermal temperatures; compact objects have magnetic fields reaching $\sim 10^{16}$ G; galaxies contain billions of stars and huge gravitational potentials; and natural accelerators generate cosmic rays at least up to $\sim 10^{20}$ eV in energy. In this section, we cover the astrophysical processes which become important backgrounds or limiting factors in the use of astrophysical phenomena as natural laboratories for DM search.

3.1 Searches with celestial bodies

Contributors: Rebecca Leane, Carsten Rott, Volodymyr Takhistov

Astrophysical compact objects can serve as natural laboratories for exploring dark matter. A variety of signals are possible, depending on the underlying dark matter model and the particular celestial object. DM in the Galactic halo can be captured by celestial bodies, and alter their properties. Particle DM can accumulate, and annihilate to either increase the celestial body's temperature [203–207], or produce detectable Standard Model products at its surface, such as gamma rays and neutrinos [208–217]. If DM is non-annihilating it can accumulate in large abundance, or if it is a primordial black hole in the asteroid $\sim 10^{-17} - 10^{-12} M_{\odot}$ mass-range, the host can be destroyed, resulting in a variety of astrophysical signatures [164, 182, 183, 218–224].

Stellar destruction signatures include the potential production of r-process heavy element nucleosynthesis material [182, 220], fast radio bursts [219, 225, 226], 511 keV radiation [219], formation of a new class of microqusars [221] as well as "orphan" gammaray bursts [221] and kilonovae [219, 220] not accompanied by strong gravitational wave emissions. Intriguingly, such asteroid-mass PBHs are unconstrained and can constitute the entirety of the dark matter abundance. After NS implosions, there will remain $\leq 2.5 M_{\odot}$ "transmuted" [182] solar-mass black holes, which are not expected from conventional stellar evolution and hence constitute a promising target for new physics searches [164, 182, 183, 220, 222, 224]. The origin of detected solar-mass BH candidate events could be identified using statistical method based on BH mass-function proposed in [183]. These solar-mass BH (distinct from the BH with primordial origins) can also merge with other compact objects, e.g. BH or NS, providing GW and multi-messenger signatures [164, 182]. Detailed studies of stellar evolution, formation of astrophysical black holes, emission and nucleosynthesis associated with compact objects as well as reinvigorated observational campaigns for distinct and multi-messenger signatures are essential to further explore the nature of dark matter and its interactions with celestial bodies.

3.2 Searches with galaxies

Contributors: Mike Boylan-Kolchin

As the systems that provided much of the original astrophysical motivation for taking dark matter seriously, galaxies are one of the most natural indirect probes of the nature of dark matter [227]. In the prevailing cold dark matter (CDM) model, virialized dark matter halos can form on scales that are much lower in mass than the stellar mass of the faintest galaxies: in a traditional WIMP picture, the lowest-mass dark matter halos are expected to be comparable in mass to the Earth ($10^{-6} M_{\odot}$; [228]), and each of these dark matter halos should — in the absence of the effects of galaxy formation — possess a density distribution of $\rho \propto r^{-1}$ near its center [229], where the galaxy resides. These predictions of CDM, abundant substructure and central density cusps (as opposed to density cores, with no radial variation of the density profile near the center), have been the source of tension between the CDM model and observations [230]. These tensions include:

- the *missing satellites problem* [231, 232]: given the abundance of predicted substructure, why do we observe a relative paucity of satellite galaxies around the Milky Way?
- the *cusp-core problem* [233]: contrary to the predicted central cusps found for galaxyscale halos in *N*-body simulations of CDM structure formation, many galaxies exhibit evidence of density cores
- the *too big to fail problem* [234, 235]: a standard solution to the missing satellites problem is to posit that satellite galaxies can only form in the most massive subhalos of the Milky Way, with lower mass structure unable to collect or efficiently cool the gas required to form stars. In this scenario, the central masses of the predicted population of galaxy-hosting subhalos significantly exceed the measured masses of the observed satellite galaxies
- the *diversity problem* [236, 237]: at a fixed galaxy rotation velocity, which is a proxy for the mass of the host dark matter halo, galaxies exhibit a wide range of behaviors of the inner rotation curve, from a quick rise near the center to a more slow and gradual increase. Why do galaxies formed in gravitational potential wells of similar depth have very different properties?

These "small-scale challenges" to the Λ CDM model [230, 238] have provided motivation for detailed study of alternate dark matter models, including:

- warm dark matter (WDM; [239, 240]), where dark matter has a non-negligible freestreaming length in the early Universe (before matter-radiation equality). Some sterile neutrino models fall in this category.
- self-interacting dark matter (SIDM), where dark matter has a non-negligible selfscattering cross section, affecting the distribution of dark matter in high-density regions.

- fuzzy dark matter (FDM; [241, 242]), where dark matter has a de Broglie wavelength comparable to the sizes of the smallest galaxies, meaning that quantum pressure sets a minimum mass scale of collapsed objects.
- primordial black hole (PBH; [243, 244]) dark matter, where dark matter is composed of black holes with masses of $\mathcal{O}(10 M_{\odot})$. Unlike CDM, gravitational interactions between individual dark matter "particles" and stars can then be important.

The effects of these non-CDM models of dark matter on properties of galaxies can be grouped into two broad classes: (i) the abundance of galaxies — particularly low-mass galaxies — is sensitive to the linear matter power spectrum (e.g., [245]), and (ii) the internal structure of galaxies across a range of scales can further constrain non-gravitational dark matter interactions with itself or with baryons (e.g., [230]). *However, both of these probes* — the abundance and internal structure of galaxies — are subject to potentially large uncertainties that originate from the galaxy formation process itself and gravitational coupling of dark and baryonic matter [246–250].

A natural prediction of any dark matter model that affects the linear matter power spectrum (via, e.g., free-streaming or quantum pressure) is a truncation in the luminosity function of galaxies, either locally or in the high-redshift Universe [245, 251, 252]. However, the interpretation of a cut-off in the number of galaxies below a given mass scale is complicated by the effects of galaxy formation and observational limits. Cosmic reionization is widely expected to set a "floor" to galaxy formation by suppressing the accretion of gas onto low-mass halos after a redshift of ~ 10 [253–255]. Galaxy counts in the Local Group are therefore sensitive not just to the abundance of low-mass dark matter halos but also to the physics of galaxy formation in such objects. At high redshifts, the ultraviolet (UV) luminosity function of galaxies should provide a means of probing low-mass dark matter halos, and the appearance of a cut-off in the UV luminosity function could be indicative of dark matter physics that reduces the amplitude of the matter power spectrum on a corresponding scale [256]. However, the episodic nature of high-redshift star formation combined with the existence of galaxies at the present day that *must* have been fainter than the detection limits of current or forthcoming telescopes [257] complicates interpretations.

Virialized dark matter halos under the influence of gravity alone have been extensively studied and quantified using numerical simulations; such systems are known to be well-approximated by Navarro-Frenk-White density profiles [229], with r^{-1} cusps on small scales and a r^{-3} fall-off near the virial radius. Introducing appreciable non-gravitational interactions can alter these predictions, resulting in density cores (from, e.g., self-scattering or quantum pressure). However, the effects of galaxy formation and assembly can also result in a modification of the structure of dark matter halos. These effects can even go in both directions (increasing and decreasing dark matter densities). Some of the main relevant processes are the infall of baryonic matter, which can increase the dark matter density on galactic scales under certain circumstances [258, 259], and energy and momentum input from stellar evolution and black holes, which typically reduce the both the amount of dark matter and the slope of the dark matter density profile in galaxies' centers [248, 249, 260–263].

Assumptions when going from modeling the distribution of luminous matter to inferring the distribution of dark matter are also a source of uncertainty. For example, noncircular motions and inclination variations in galactic disks affect inferences regarding the underlying total (dark matter plus baryonic) gravitational potential [264], and stellar kinematic data are often limited to line-of-sight velocities, leaving the velocity anisotropy of stellar orbits as a potentially large systematic when converting from velocities to the underlying mass distribution [265]. Even the stellar initial mass function (IMF) plays a role in modeling and contributes to the uncertainty budget: the stellar mass contributed by an observed population of stars depends on the stellar mass-to-light ratio, which is set by the IMF [266]. This is a particularly important issue for gravitational lensing studies of dark matter.

4 Synergies in direct detection of dark matter

4.1 Astrophysical backgrounds

Contributors: Sebastian Baum, Shunsaku Horiuchi, Ibles Olcina, Volodymyr Takhistov

Solar, supernova and atmospheric neutrinos constitute irreducible astrophysical backgrounds for direct DM detection experiments. Such "neutrino floor" [267–270] (or alternatively defined "neutrino fog" [271]) could significantly reduce sensitivity of future DM searches, especially in the region where the recoil spectrum of the neutrino background is approximately degenerate with DM signatures. Hence, the primary questions are: *what is the future progress in characterizing astrophysical neutrino fluxes, and given these improvements, what can we learn about the nature of the dark matter and BSM physics using signals below the present bounds from direct detection experiments*?

Figure 1 shows the expected flux of all the dominant neutrino backgrounds, assuming SNOLAB as the experiment's location. The uncertainties of these fluxes remain variable, with prospects for important improvements in the near future. Further studies are needed for addressing the impacts on DM sensitivities over a wide range of masses, especially for the backgrounds from the following astrophysical processes:

- Low-energy atmospheric neutrinos: below ~ 100 MeV energies, theory uncertainty is ~ 25% and arise from Solar effects and geomagnetic fields [273–275]. Extensions of atmospheric neutrino models to reach sub 100 MeV energies is ongoing [276], and the Gadolinium upgrade of Super-Kamiokande [277], with first loading stage completed [278], would improve signal to noise in relevant energies.
- **Diffuse supernova neutrinos**: the diffuse supernova neutrino background (DSNB) uncertainty is driven by uncertainties in the cosmological rate of core collapse, the frequency of collapse to black holes, simulations of stellar core collapse, and neutrino oscillations [279, 280]. Each can contribute at the tens of percent level or more. Current predictions incorporate effects such as dependence on the progenitor star and binary effects, e.g., [281–283]. The first detection of the DSNB is anticipated by gadolinium-enhanced Super-Kamiokande [278].



Figure 1: Fluxes of the dominant neutrino backgrounds for direct dark matter searches. They can be classified in broad categories as solar (pp chain and CNO cycle [272]), atmospheric, diffuse supernova background, geo- and reactor neutrinos. Figure from [270].

• Solar neutrinos: much of the solar neutrinos have been measured and the dominant *pp* chain has percent errors while those involving heavier isotopes (7Be, 8B, and CNO) have tens of percent uncertainty. In recent years, the Standard Solar Model has not been able to explain new measurements of photospheric heavy element abundances in the Sun's atmosphere [284] along with helioseismology measurements, creating a new solar "metallicity" problem, e.g., [285].

Currently, how uncertainties should be assigned to the normalization of each of these fluxes is an open question. Ref. [286], taking input from all the main direct dark matter experiments, offers a possible solution and provides a set of recommended values.

Sensitivity to neutrino backgrounds allows to exploit future DM experiments, such as argon-based ARGO [287] or xenon-based DARWIN [288], as unique instruments for exploration of neutrino astronomy and phenomenology. Taking advantage of enhanced coherent neutrino scattering, thanks to heavy targets such as argon or xenon, which is sensitive to all neutrino flavors, low keV-level thresholds, as well as good detection prospects for neutrino-electron scattering empowers large direct DM experiments to provide complementary information to conventional neutrino telescopes. This includes studies of solar neutrinos [289, 290], supernova neutrinos [291], geo-neutrinos [292], pre-supernova neutrinos [293] as well as neutrinos associated with supermassive star explosions [294] that could be related to the origin of supermassive black holes. Further studies are necessary to explore the full potential as well as complementarity capabilities of upcoming direct DM detection experiments.

4.1.1 Probes with paleo detectors

Another handle on astrophysical backgrounds could be offered by paleo-detectors [295, 296], a proposed alternative to conventional direct detection experiments. Paleo-detectors would use the nuclear damage tracks recorded in natural minerals over time-scales as large as a gigayear to search for sources of keV-scale nuclear recoils, promising exposures much larger than what is feasible in conventional dark matter detectors. For example, measuring the tracks in 100 g of target material that has been recording events for 1 Gyr corresponds to an exposure of 100 kilotonne–years. As in conventional direct detectors could measure the same sources of astrophysical neutrino fluxes, i.e., solar neutrinos, supernova neutrinos, and atmospheric neutrinos. Unlike conventional experiments that measure nuclear recoils in real time however, paleo-detectors would measure the number of events integrated over the age of the mineral, reaching up to a billion years for minerals routinely found on Earth. This has various important implications.

Regarding supernova neutrinos, when averaged over time-scales much longer than the few-decades average interval between core collapse supernovae in our Galaxy, the galactic supernova neutrino flux is about two orders of magnitude larger on Earth than the DSNB. Potentially, this galactic supernova neutrino flux could be measured with paleodetectors [297], providing a direct measurement of the galactic supernova rate. Perhaps more interestingly, using a series of paleo-detectors of different ages [298], one could obtain (coarse-grained) information about the time-dependence of various neutrino fluxes at Earth over gigayear timescales.

An experimental program is needed to demonstrate the feasibility of paleo detectors and to better understand limitations imposed by other backgrounds, in particular natural defects in minerals that could potentially mimic nuclear recoil tracks and radiogenic backgrounds. However, if successful, paleo-detectors could allow for measurements of the changes in the solar neutrino flux [299], galactic supernova rate [297], or atmospheric neutrino flux [300], providing information about solar evolution, the Milky Way's star formation history, and the cosmic ray rate impinging on Earth over gigayear timescales. All of these would serve to realize new and potentially powerful methods to identify DM scattering events amongst astrophysical backgrounds [298, 301].

4.2 Systematics due to dark matter distribution

Contributors: JiJi Fan, Lina Necib, Ibles Olcina, Volodymyr Takhistov

Direct detection [309] of DM depends highly on the local phase space distribution of DM. More explicitly, DM direct detection rates involve an astrophysical term that contains the flux of DM through the detector, and is therefore proportional to the local DM density and velocity distribution.

With the advances brought in by observations, particularly the <u>Gaia</u> mission [310–312], progress has been made on the DM phase space distribution. We mention some of them here:



Figure 2: Measurements of the local density profile of DM $\rho_{\rm DM}$ from recent studies [302–307]. [308] argues that these measurements, although seemingly consistent within errors, are missing effects of the tilt term in the analysis, leading to an order unity systematic error. Figure from [308].

- Local DM density distribution Kinematic stellar catalogs have been crucial in informing the local DM density, based on the vertical motion of stars (see [313] for a review of the methods employed to measure the local DM density). The presence of small local dark subhalos, or dark streams can affect these measurements, which introduce an error on the expected DM rate for direct detection measurements. Recent measurements have led to a value of $\rho_{\rm DM} \sim 0.5$ GeV/cm³, as summarized in Fig. 2 from Ref. [308]. However, [308] argues that the disk wobbling leads to a systematic error affecting these measurements. Future work will address these systematic errors and lead to a more accurate value of the local DM density.
- Local DM velocity distribution Direct detection experiments typically assume a Maxwell Boltzmann distribution for DM [314]. However, given the large swaths of stellar structure found through <u>Gaia</u> (see [315] for a review), a more empirical approach is required. [316] showed using simulations a correlation between the velocity distributions of accreted stars and accreted DM from the same mergers, building in [317] an initial velocity distribution of the local DM from the luminous satellites. This distribution peaks at lower values than the assumed Maxwell Boltzmann distribution, leading to a suppression of the DM rate at lower masses. This is however incomplete, and further work is required to include all DM components, particularly the smaller scale local streams, and dark subhalos. Additionally, the correlation between the stellar velocities of DM and stars breaks down when non-standard interactions of the dark sector as added, and therefore need to be studied

separately. Unlike the local density measurement of DM, which is a shift in the standard direct detection limit plots, differences in velocity distributions affect different experiments differently, and the most constraining experiment with a Maxwell Boltzmann velocity distribution might not actually be the one setting the strongest limits (see [317–320]).

• **DM substructure** Kinematic substructure in DM, which can be accompanied by a stellar kinematic structure like a stream, can affect direct detection rates and signal modulation [321]. It is therefore crucial to map out the full local kinematic history of the local solar neighborhood. This is a work in progress with the recent updates from Gaia, (see e.g. [315, 322–327]).

Alternatively, halo-independent analysis methods for direct DM detection experiments, developed for both nucleon (e.g. [328, 329]) as well as electron [330] scattering, avoid the problem of uncertain local DM distribution and instead infers its properties from data. This allows then to compare different experimental data and possible signals without making any assumptions on the uncertain local dark halo.

The impact of the DM distributions with <u>Gaia</u> data on direct detection searches has just started to be explored [318–320, 331–334]. Each study mainly focuses on the effects from a subset of DM distributions on either the DM-nucleon or DM-electron scattering. Further developments in understanding astrophysical DM distributions is needed to evaluate their full impacts on DM direct detection. On the other hand, future data from direct detection could potentially probe DM distributions, i.e., constrain the substructure DM fraction, even when it constitutes a sub-dominant component of the local DM density [319].

5 Synthesis and novel techniques

In parallel to improved understanding of astrophysical phenomena, new analysis strategies and statistical techniques also allow for powerful improvements to DM sensitivity. In this section, we cover some promising methods being explored in the literature in the context of DM search with cosmic messengers.

5.1 Synthesis of targets and messengers

Contributors: Michael Burgess, Pat Harding, Kohta Murase, Laura Olivera-Nieto, Volodymyr Takhistov

Recent coincidence observations by IceCube of neutrinos coincident with gamma-rays for blazar TXS 0506+056 [335] as well as IceCube neutrinos coincident with radio signals associated with tidal disruption events [336] have established the significance of multimessenger astronomy for uncovering the nature and mechanisms of astrophysical sources. Along with other observations, such as neutrino production from cosmic-ray line-of-sight interactions [82, 85], further multimessenger studies with neutrinos will identify and assist in disentangling astrophysical background sources for indirect DM searches. There are several open-source packages that can be used to jointly fit data from different instruments and observatories. One of them, focused on the the gamma-ray range, is Gammapy, a community developed open source Python package for gamma-ray astronomy. It relies on a common FITS-based open data format developed by an initiative called "Gamma Astro Data Formats" (GADF) [337]. Gammapy provides methods for the analysis of high level data of many gamma-ray instruments including Imaging Atmospheric Cherenkov Telescopes (IACT), such as HESS, MAGIC and VERITAS [338], Water Cherenkov Observatories, such as HAWC [339] as well as support for Fermi-LAT data. Additionally, Gammapy will be the base library for the "Science Tools" of future Cherenkov Telescope Array (CTA)¹. Data can be combined at different stages, ranging between relatively low-level data products like event lists and instrument response functions, but also higher level data products like flux points, if the corresponding likelihood profiles are provided as well. This is relevant for stacked analysis, for example.

Another high-level open code that can be used to combined experiments in multimessenger or multi-wavelength analysis is the Multi-Mission Maximum Likelihood framework (3ML) [340]. Rather than unifying the underlying base analysis of each experiment, each experiment has a written plugin which takes model input and gives output of likelihood to the main 3ML framework. In this way, the under-the-hood behavior of each experiment is left to that experiment itself, without any enforced formats, modules, or capabilities - as long as the experimental code takes in a model and outputs a likelihood, it can be added into a joint analysis. In this way, 3ML is always able to use the best possible up-to-date algorithms and data from each experiment and maintained by that experiment as it best sees fit. The nature of the 3ML code is such that it is outside the space of individual experiments, although it is regularly used for analysis with the HAWC observatory². The 3ML framework itself is responsible for the combination of likelihoods from the input experiments as well as the minimization, Markov Chain Monte Carlo, or nested sampling used to derive best-fit model parameters and confidence intervals. To be as general as possible, 3ML has a wide code base of model examples and templates to consider for any analysis.

Independent on the specific package, the ongoing development of open-source tools and the definition of standards that facilitate the sharing of data will be crucial to fully exploit the synergies between different wavelengths and astrophysical messengers.

5.2 Novel techniques

Contributors: Shin'ichiro Ando, Ilias Cholis, Shunsaku Horiuchi, Nick Rodd

A fundamental problem in astronomy affecting indirect DM search is the detection of point sources. When studying a population of sources, as the individual sources dim, there is a transition to a regime where characterizing the properties of any one object becomes unreliable, and instead one must study the features of the population as a whole. These novel statistical techniques take us beyond the energy spectrum of the diffuse emissions,

¹https://www.cta-observatory.org/ctao-adopts-the-gammapy-software-package-for-science-analysis/ ²https://threeml.readthedocs.io/en/stable/notebooks/hal_example.html

including spatial distributions and cross correlations with source catalogs.

5.2.1 Angular power spectrum

If the photon data are dominated by a handful of bright point sources rather than by infinite number of dim sources, statistics – especially the flux distribution – of the photons will be very characteristic. One of the simplest statistics is the angular power spectrum that incorporates the variance of the flux distribution. Analyzing the modern gamma-ray data sets using the angular power spectrum was proposed in order to distinguish various astrophysical point sources and dark matter annihilation or decay [341, 342]. The angular power spectrum of the all-sky gamma-ray background data obtained with the Fermi-LAT was detected in 2012 [343], which revealed dominant contribution from the gamma-ray blazars [344, 345]. Neither intrinsic source clustering nor signatures of particle dark matter that might be encripted in the angular power spectrum, however, has not been detected yet.

5.2.2 Non-Poissonian template fit

One of the most widely used methods for studying point-source populations is the statistical framework of the non-Poissonian template fit (NPTF) [346–349]. The NPTF rose to prominence given its application to the question of whether the anomalous Galactic Center γ -ray emission was associated with a population of point-sources, or instead was a signal of dark-matter annihilation, although it has also been applied to neutrino datasets [350]. The method exploits the fact that a population of sources can predictably modify the observed distribution of photons away from the Poisson distribution expected of smoother emission – as encapsulated in an analytic likelihood.

In order to be computationally tractable, the NPTF makes approximations, such as assuming each pixel in a binned sky-map is statistically independent, even though they are demonstrably not (the finite point spread function of any instrument can correlate the pixels around a point source). More recently, it has been shown that NPTF suffers from biases that lead it to generate spurious evidence for point sources [351–353]. A subset of the issues identified can be resolved [354, 355], however, others appear more fundamental.

The identification of shortcomings in the NPTF has spurred recent efforts to introduce more reliable methods. The Compound Poisson Generator (CPG) framework introduces a novel likelihood that removes a number of biases fundamental in the NPTF framework, leading to improved performance particularly for X-ray point-source searches [356]. However, even this method assumes nearby pixels are independent. With a view to accounting for these missed correlations, several groups have pursued an approach based on convolutional neural networks [357–360]. These methods appear to be able to avoid the pitfalls of the NPTF, and further exhibit considerable sensitivity to dim sources. However, going forward, these machine learning based approaches will need to be tested considerably to determine whether their results are robust, or whether they have their own set of challenging systematics. Refined versions of these methods will have an important role to play in characterizing any emerging indirect detection dark-matter signal. Point sources are ubiquitous, and validating that any putative signal of new physics is not a dim population of sources will be an important step in building confidence on the path to discovery. A clear example of this is provided by the Galactic Center excess: the possibility that this is in fact a signal of annihilating dark-matter has yet to be robustly excluded, although there are by now a several of strains of evidence disfavoring the possibility. Yet the leading alternative hypothesis to dark matter remains point sources; the debate around this excess – and indeed future anomalies – may eventually be resolved by the successors to the NPTF. More details can be found in an accompanying whitepaper [14].

5.2.3 Wavelets

Wavelets are mathematical objects that have been used widely in image analysis at various wavelengths to decompose images in structures of different scales [361, 362]. Thus, wavelets rely less on the presumptive distinction of backgrounds vs signals and may provide an alternative way forward. It has been shown that wavelets can detect pixels where point sources bellow Fermi detection threshold may lie [363, 364]. Such techniques work best on high-resolution maps that impose a small angular scale cut-off only at angles smaller than the point spread function. Moreover, they require high statistics and an extensive search over the best type of wavelet family of functions used. Future analyses will greatly benefit from the continuous *Fermi*-LAT observations.

5.2.4 Cross correlations

Cross correlating different datasets allows correlated information to be extracted while removing uncorrelated noise. For example, if gamma-ray emission from astrophysical sources are correlated with emission in other low-frequency wavebands (e.g., optical, radio, etc.), one can fully utilize the correlated information in order to study the gamma-ray source properties or extract information on particle DM. Similarly, since most, if not all, astrophysical sources trace the large-scale structure of DM, one can consider correlating with datasets with tracers of large-scale structure such as catalogs of galaxies or gravitational lensing maps.

If a catalog of galaxies focuses on a particular redshift range, taking the cross correlation with that catalog will essentially single out source contributions from the same redshift range, and at the same time remove source contributions from other redshift ranges [365]. This *tomography* provides powerful diagnostics for searchiing for DM and astrophysics alike. Since the contributions of DM annihilation or decay are predicted to be biased towards lower redshift ranges when compared with ordinary astrophysical sources such as such as blazars and starburst galaxies, taking the cross correlations with nearby galaxy catalogs such as 2MASS is optimal for the search of particle DM [366]. On the other hand, one must be mindful that galaxies are a biased tracer of the DM distribution; cross correlating with weak gravitational lensing catalogs has the advantage that they are an unbiased tracer of the DM distribution, which makes the technique complementary to the one with galaxy catalogs [367, 368].

Both of these strategies have been performed with the Fermi-LAT data. Cross correlation with various galaxy catalogs have showed positive correlations in many cases [369, 370]. Cross correlation with lensing maps have been limited by lensing coverage [371–373], but recently, the Dark Energy Survey (DES) collaboration found possible cross correlation between the Fermi-LAT gamma-ray data and DES weak lensing data, which is found consistent with theoretical expectation with gamma-ray blazar models [374].

In the future, cross correlation is a technique which is anticipated to become even more powerful as gravitational tracers become more complete. For example, the Vera C. Rubin Observatory will increase sky coverage of existing lensing maps by some factor ~ 10 or more, contributing to an significant improvement in the amount of data that can be correlated. In parallel, as the properties of astrophysical sources are better understood through multi-messenger astrophysics including the cross correlation technique—the information will further feedback into future searches for DM.

6 Concluding remarks

The coming decade of DM searches will be driven by both strong sensitivity improvements with new instruments, synergies between experiments, as well as the rise in multimessenger astrophysics. By coming together and sharing data, DM studies in direct detection, indirect detection, and natural laboratories can all benefit from each other, and furthermore all can benefit from the progress in non-DM-driven studies from multi-messenger astrophysics. In this whitepaper, we have covered major backgrounds to DM searches with photons, cosmic rays, neutrinos, as well as gravitational waves; and highlighted important future developments of astrophysical sources and processes, as well as new numerical techniques to merge datasets. With synergistic studies, the community can get the most science out of its data and can delve even deeper into the DM parameter space. The future is promising for the search for DM and by continuing to work together as a community we can strengthen it further.

References

- [1] Marco Regis, Sergio Colafrancesco, Stefano Profumo, W. J. G. de Blok, M. Massardi, and Laura Richter. Local Group dSph radio survey with ATCA (III): Constraints on Particle Dark Matter. JCAP, 10:016, 2014.
- [2] George Heald et al. Magnetism Science with the Square Kilometre Array. <u>Galaxies</u>, 8(3):53, 2020.
- [3] Guenter Sigl. Astrophysical Haloscopes. Phys. Rev. D, 96(10):103014, 2017.
- [4] Anson Hook, Yonatan Kahn, Benjamin R. Safdi, and Zhiquan Sun. Radio Signals from Axion Dark Matter Conversion in Neutron Star Magnetospheres. <u>Phys. Rev.</u> Lett., 121(24):241102, 2018.

- [5] Joshua W. Foster, Yonatan Kahn, Oscar Macias, Zhiquan Sun, Ralph P. Eatough, Vladislav I. Kondratiev, Wendy M. Peters, Christoph Weniger, and Benjamin R. Safdi. Green Bank and Effelsberg Radio Telescope Searches for Axion Dark Matter Conversion in Neutron Star Magnetospheres. Phys. Rev. Lett., 125(17):171301, 2020.
- [6] Samuel J. Witte, Dion Noordhuis, Thomas D. P. Edwards, and Christoph Weniger. Axion-photon conversion in neutron star magnetospheres: The role of the plasma in the Goldreich-Julian model. Phys. Rev. D, 104(10):103030, 2021.
- [7] Andrea Caputo, Marco Regis, Marco Taoso, and Samuel J. Witte. Detecting the Stimulated Decay of Axions at RadioFrequencies. JCAP, 03:027, 2019.
- [8] Diego Harari and Pierre Sikivie. Effects of a Nambu-Goldstone boson on the polarization of radio galaxies and the cosmic microwave background. <u>Phys. Lett. B</u>, 289:67–72, 1992.
- [9] Aritra Basu, Jishnu Goswami, Dominik J. Schwarz, and Yuko Urakawa. Searching for Axionlike Particles under Strong Gravitational Lenses. <u>Phys. Rev. Lett.</u>, 126(19):191102, 2021.
- [10] E. Charles et al. Sensitivity Projections for Dark Matter Searches with the Fermi Large Area Telescope. Phys. Rept., 636:1–46, 2016.
- [11] Troy A. Porter, Gudlaugur Johannesson, and Igor V. Moskalenko. The GALPROP Cosmic-ray Propagation and Non-thermal Emissions Framework: Release v57. 12 2021.
- [12] F. Acero et al. Development of the Model of Galactic Interstellar Emission for Standard Point-Source Analysis of Fermi Large Area Telescope Data. <u>Astrophys. J. Suppl.</u>, 223(2):26, 2016.
- [13] Oscar Macias, Chris Gordon, Roland M. Crocker, Brendan Coleman, Dylan Paterson, Shunsaku Horiuchi, and Martin Pohl. Galactic bulge preferred over dark matter for the Galactic centre gamma-ray excess. Nature Astron., 2(5):387–392, 2018.
- [14] Rebecca Leane, Seodong Shin, and Liang Yang. Snowmass2021 Cosmic Frontier White Paper: Puzzling excesses in dark matter searches and how to resolve them. 2022.
- [15] Martin Pohl, Peter Englmaier, and Nicolai Bissantz. 3D Distribution of Molecular Gas in the Barred Milky Way. Astrophys. J., 677:283–291, 2008.
- [16] Gregory M. Green, Edward Schlafly, Catherine Zucker, Joshua S. Speagle, and Douglas Finkbeiner. A 3D Dust Map Based on Gaia, Pan-STARRS 1, and 2MASS. <u>ApJ</u>, 887(1):93, December 2019.
- [17] Eric B. Burgh, Kevin France, and Stephan R. McCandliss. Direct Measurement of the Ratio of Carbon Monoxide to Molecular Hydrogen in the Diffuse Interstellar Medium. <u>Astrophys. J.</u>, 658:446–454, 2007.

- [18] H. S. Liszt and J. Pety. Imaging diffuse clouds: Bright and dark gas mapped in CO. Astron. Astrophys., 541:A58, 2012.
- [19] Troy A. Porter, Gudlaugur Johannesson, and Igor V. Moskalenko. High-Energy Gamma Rays from the Milky Way: Three-Dimensional Spatial Models for the Cosmic-Ray and Radiation Field Densities in the Interstellar Medium. <u>Astrophys.</u> J., 846(1):67, 2017.
- [20] M. Ajello et al. Fermi-LAT Observations of High-Energy γ -Ray Emission Toward the Galactic Center. Astrophys. J., 819(1):44, 2016.
- [21] Elena Orlando and Andrew Strong. Galactic synchrotron emission with cosmic ray propagation models. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 436:2127, 2013.
- [22] Gregory Dobler, Ilias Cholis, and Neal Weiner. The Fermi Gamma-Ray Haze from Dark Matter Annihilations and Anisotropic Diffusion. Astrophys. J., 741:25, 2011.
- [23] Francesca Calore, Ilias Cholis, and Christoph Weniger. Background Model Systematics for the Fermi GeV Excess. JCAP, 03:038, 2015.
- [24] Ilias Cholis, Yi-Ming Zhong, Samuel D. McDermott, and Joseph P. Surdutovich. The Return of the Templates: Revisiting the Galactic Center Excess with Multi-Messenger Observations. 12 2021.
- [25] M. Ackermann et al. The spectrum of isotropic diffuse gamma-ray emission between 100 MeV and 820 GeV. Astrophys. J., 799:86, 2015.
- [26] M. Ajello et al. The Origin of the Extragalactic Gamma-Ray Background and Implications for Dark-Matter Annihilation. Astrophys. J., 800(2):L27, 2015.
- [27] M. Ackermann et al. Resolving the Extragalactic γ -Ray Background above 50 GeV with the Fermi Large Area Telescope. Phys. Rev. Lett., 116(15):151105, 2016.
- [28] Mariangela Lisanti, Siddharth Mishra-Sharma, Lina Necib, and Benjamin R. Safdi. Deciphering Contributions to the Extragalactic Gamma-Ray Background from 2 GeV to 2 TeV. 2016.
- [29] Mark Srednicki, Stefan Theisen, and Joseph Silk. Cosmic Quarkonium: A Probe of Dark Matter. <u>Phys. Rev. Lett.</u>, 56:263, 1986. [Erratum: Phys.Rev.Lett. 56, 1883 (1986)].
- [30] Serge Rudaz. Cosmic Production of Quarkonium? Phys. Rev. Lett., 56:2128, 1986.
- [31] Gerard Jungman and Marc Kamionkowski. Gamma-rays from neutralino annihilation. Phys. Rev. D, 51:3121–3124, 1995.
- [32] Lars Bergstrom, Piero Ullio, and James H. Buckley. Observability of gamma-rays from dark matter neutralino annihilations in the Milky Way halo. <u>Astropart. Phys.</u>, 9:137–162, 1998.

- [33] Kenny C. Y. Ng, Ranjan Laha, Sheldon Campbell, Shunsaku Horiuchi, Basudeb Dasgupta, Kohta Murase, and John F. Beacom. Resolving small-scale dark matter structures using multisource indirect detection. Phys. Rev. D, 89(8):083001, 2014.
- [34] John R. Ellis, G.B. Gelmini, Jorge L. Lopez, Dimitri V. Nanopoulos, and Subir Sarkar. Astrophysical constraints on massive unstable neutral relic particles. <u>Nucl.Phys.</u>, B373:399–437, 1992.
- [35] Paolo Gondolo, Graciela Gelmini, and Subir Sarkar. Cosmic neutrinos from unstable relic particles. Nucl.Phys., B392:111–136, 1993.
- [36] Kohta Murase and John F. Beacom. Constraining Very Heavy Dark Matter Using Diffuse Backgrounds of Neutrinos and Cascaded Gamma Rays. JCAP, 1210:043, 2012.
- [37] Timothy Cohen, Kohta Murase, Nicholas L. Rodd, Benjamin R. Safdi, and Yotam Soreq. γ -ray Constraints on Decaying Dark Matter and Implications for IceCube. Phys. Rev. Lett., 119(2):021102, 2017.
- [38] Koji Ishiwata, Oscar Macias, Shin'ichiro Ando, and Makoto Arimoto. Probing heavy dark matter decays with multi-messenger astrophysical data. JCAP, 01:003, 2020.
- [39] Marco Chianese, Damiano F. G. Fiorillo, Rasmi Hajjar, Gennaro Miele, and Ninetta Saviano. Constraints on heavy decaying dark matter with current gamma-ray measurements. JCAP, 11:035, 2021.
- [40] Markus Ahlers and Kohta Murase. Probing the Galactic Origin of the IceCube Excess with Gamma-Rays. Phys. Rev. D, 90(2):023010, 2014.
- [41] Kohta Murase, Ranjan Laha, Shin'ichiro Ando, and Markus Ahlers. Testing the Dark Matter Scenario for PeV Neutrinos Observed in IceCube. 2015.
- [42] Arman Esmaili and Pasquale Dario Serpico. Gamma-ray bounds from EAS detectors and heavy decaying dark matter constraints. JCAP, 10:014, 2015.
- [43] O. E. Kalashev and M. Yu Kuznetsov. Heavy decaying dark matter and large-scale anisotropy of high-energy cosmic rays. JETP Lett., 106(2):73–80, 2017.
- [44] M. Aglietta et al. Search for 100 TeV gamma-ray emission from the Galactic disk. Astrophys. J., 397:148, 1992.
- [45] M. C. Chantell et al. Limits on the isotropic diffuse flux of ultrahigh-energy gamma radiation. Phys. Rev. Lett., 79:1805–1808, 1997.
- [46] W. D. Apel et al. KASCADE-Grande Limits on the Isotropic Diffuse Gamma-Ray Flux between 100 TeV and 1 EeV. Astrophys. J., 848(1):1, 2017.
- [47] D. D. Dzhappuev et al. Carpet—2 Search for Gamma Rays above 100 TeV in Coincidence with HAWC and IceCube Alerts. JETP Lett., 112(12):753–756, 2020.

- [48] A. U. Abeysekara et al. A Search for Dark Matter in the Galactic Halo with HAWC. JCAP, 02:049, 2018.
- [49] M. Amenomori et al. First Detection of sub-PeV Diffuse Gamma Rays from the Galactic Disk: Evidence for Ubiquitous Galactic Cosmic Rays beyond PeV Energies. Phys. Rev. Lett., 126(14):141101, 2021.
- [50] Huihai He. Status and First Results of the LHAASO Experiment. <u>PoS</u>, ICRC2019:693, 2021.
- [51] Ilias Cholis, Dan Hooper, and Tim Linden. Possible Evidence for the Stochastic Acceleration of Secondary Antiprotons by Supernova Remnants. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 95(12):123007, 2017.
- [52] Dan Hooper, Ilias Cholis, Tim Linden, and Ke Fang. HAWC Observations Strongly Favor Pulsar Interpretations of the Cosmic-Ray Positron Excess. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 96(10):103013, 2017.
- [53] Dan Hooper and Tim Linden. Measuring the Local Diffusion Coefficient with H.E.S.S. Observations of Very High-Energy Electrons. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 98(8):083009, 2018.
- [54] Ilias Cholis, Tanvi Karwal, and Marc Kamionkowski. Studying the Milky Way pulsar population with cosmic-ray leptons. Phys. Rev. D, 98(6):063008, 2018.
- [55] Philipp Mertsch. Stochastic cosmic ray sources and the TeV break in the all-electron spectrum. JCAP, 11:045, 2018.
- [56] Carmelo Evoli, Elena Amato, Pasquale Blasi, and Roberto Aloisio. Galactic factories of cosmic-ray electrons and positrons. Phys. Rev. D, 103(8):083010, 2021.
- [57] Carmelo Evoli, Elena Amato, Pasquale Blasi, and Roberto Aloisio. Stochastic nature of Galactic cosmic-ray sources. Phys. Rev. D, 104(12):123029, 2021.
- [58] Ilias Cholis and Iason Krommydas. Utilizing cosmic-ray positron and electron observations to probe the averaged properties of Milky Way pulsars. 11 2021.
- [59] Alessandro Cuoco, Michael Krämer, and Michael Korsmeier. Novel Dark Matter Constraints from Antiprotons in Light of AMS-02. <u>Phys. Rev. Lett.</u>, 118(19):191102, 2017.
- [60] Ming-Yang Cui, Qiang Yuan, Yue-Lin Sming Tsai, and Yi-Zhong Fan. Possible dark matter annihilation signal in the AMS-02 antiproton data. <u>Phys. Rev. Lett.</u>, 118(19):191101, 2017.
- [61] Ilias Cholis, Tim Linden, and Dan Hooper. A Robust Excess in the Cosmic-Ray Antiproton Spectrum: Implications for Annihilating Dark Matter. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 99(10):103026, 2019.

- [62] Alessandro Cuoco, Jan Heisig, Lukas Klamt, Michael Korsmeier, and Michael Krämer. Scrutinizing the evidence for dark matter in cosmic-ray antiprotons. <u>Phys.</u> Rev. D, 99(10):103014, 2019.
- [63] Dan Hooper, Rebecca K. Leane, Yu-Dai Tsai, Shalma Wegsman, and Samuel J. Witte. A systematic study of hidden sector dark matter:application to the gamma-ray and antiproton excesses. JHEP, 07(07):163, 2020.
- [64] Mathieu Boudaud, Yoann Génolini, Laurent Derome, Julien Lavalle, David Maurin, Pierre Salati, and Pasquale D. Serpico. AMS-02 antiprotons' consistency with a secondary astrophysical origin. Phys. Rev. Res., 2(2):023022, 2020.
- [65] Jan Heisig, Michael Korsmeier, and Martin Wolfgang Winkler. Dark matter or correlated errors: Systematics of the AMS-02 antiproton excess. <u>Phys. Rev. Res.</u>, 2(4):043017, 2020.
- [66] Michael Korsmeier, Fiorenza Donato, and Nicolao Fornengo. Prospects to verify a possible dark matter hint in cosmic antiprotons with antideuterons and antihelium. Phys. Rev. D, 97(10):103011, 2018.
- [67] Vivian Poulin, Pierre Salati, Ilias Cholis, Marc Kamionkowski, and Joseph Silk. Where do the AMS-02 antihelium events come from? <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 99(2):023016, 2019.
- [68] Ilias Cholis, Tim Linden, and Dan Hooper. Antideuterons and antihelium nuclei from annihilating dark matter. Phys. Rev. D, 102(10):103019, 2020.
- [69] N. Saffold et al. Cosmic antihelium-3 nuclei sensitivity of the GAPS experiment. Astropart. Phys., 130:102580, 2021.
- [70] M. Aguilar et al. Observation of Fine Time Structures in the Cosmic Proton and Helium Fluxes with the Alpha Magnetic Spectrometer on the International Space Station. <u>Phys. Rev. Lett.</u>, 121(5):051101, 2018.
- [71] M. Aguilar et al. Observation of Complex Time Structures in the Cosmic-Ray Electron and Positron Fluxes with the Alpha Magnetic Spectrometer on the International Space Station. Phys. Rev. Lett., 121(5):051102, 2018.
- [72] Cheng-Rui Zhu, Qiang Yuan, and Da-Ming Wei. Studies on cosmic ray nuclei with Voyager, ACE and AMS-02: I. local interstellar spectra and solar modulation. Astrophys. J., 863(2):119, 2018.
- [73] Nicola Tomassetti, Fernando Barão, Bruna Bertucci, Emanuele Fiandrini, and Miguel Orcinha. Numerical modeling of cosmic-ray transport in the heliosphere and interpretation of the proton-to-helium ratio in Solar Cycle 24. <u>Adv. Space Res.</u>, 64(12):2477–2489, 2019.
- [74] Ilias Cholis, Dan Hooper, and Tim Linden. Constraining the Charge-Sign and Rigidity-Dependence of Solar Modulation. 7 2020.

- [75] P. von Doetinchem et al. Cosmic-ray antinuclei as messengers of new physics: status and outlook for the new decade. JCAP, 08:035, 2020.
- [76] Rolf Kappl and Martin Wolfgang Winkler. The Cosmic Ray Antiproton Background for AMS-02. JCAP, 09:051, 2014.
- [77] Giacomo Graziani. Fixed target measurements at LHCb for cosmic rays physics. In 52nd Rencontres de Moriond on EW Interactions and Unified Theories, pages 261– 268, 2017.
- [78] N. Abgrall et al. NA61/SHINE facility at the CERN SPS: beams and detector system. Journal of Instrumentation, 9:6005P, June 2014.
- [79] B. Adams et al. Letter of Intent: A New QCD facility at the M2 beam line of the CERN SPS (COMPASS++/AMBER). 8 2018.
- [80] Betty Bezverkhny Abelev et al. Performance of the ALICE Experiment at the CERN LHC. Int. J. Mod. Phys. A, 29:1430044, 2014.
- [81] Tsuguo Aramaki, Stefano Profumo, and Philip von Doetinchem. Snowmass2021 Cosmic Frontier White Paper: The landscape of cosmic-ray and high-energy photon probes of particle dark matter. 2022.
- [82] Warren Essey, Oleg Kalashev, Alexander Kusenko, and John F. Beacom. Role of line-of-sight cosmic ray interactions in forming the spectra of distant blazars in TeV gamma rays and high-energy neutrinos. Astrophys. J., 731:51, 2011.
- [83] Kohta Murase, Charles D. Dermer, Hajime Takami, and Giulia Migliori. Blazars as Ultra-High-Energy Cosmic-Ray Sources: Implications for TeV Gamma-Ray Observations. <u>Astrophys. J.</u>, 749:63, 2012.
- [84] Hajime Takami, Kohta Murase, and Charles D. Dermer. Disentangling Hadronic and Leptonic Cascade Scenarios from the Very-High-Energy Gamma-Ray Emission of Distant Hard-Spectrum Blazars. <u>Astrophys. J. Lett.</u>, 771:L32, 2013.
- [85] Alina Kochocki, Volodymyr Takhistov, Alexander Kusenko, and Nathan Whitehorn. Contribution of Secondary Neutrinos from Line-of-sight Cosmic-Ray Interactions to the IceCube Diffuse Astrophysical Flux. <u>Astrophys. J.</u>, 914(2):91, 2021.
- [86] Christopher V. Cappiello, Kenny C. Y. Ng, and John F. Beacom. Reverse Direct Detection: Cosmic Ray Scattering With Light Dark Matter. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 99(6):063004, 2019.
- [87] Torsten Bringmann and Maxim Pospelov. Novel direct detection constraints on light dark matter. Phys. Rev. Lett., 122(17):171801, 2019.
- [88] Yohei Ema, Filippo Sala, and Ryosuke Sato. Light Dark Matter at Neutrino Experiments. Phys. Rev. Lett., 122(18):181802, 2019.

- [89] Yongsoo Jho, Jong-Chul Park, Seong Chan Park, and Po-Yan Tseng. Cosmic-Neutrino-Boosted Dark Matter (ν BDM). 1 2021.
- [90] Nicole F. Bell, James B. Dent, Bhaskar Dutta, Sumit Ghosh, Jason Kumar, Jayden L. Newstead, and Ian M. Shoemaker. Cosmic-ray upscattered inelastic dark matter. Phys. Rev. D, 104:076020, 2021.
- [91] Leonid Chuzhoy and Edward W. Kolb. Reopening the window on charged dark matter. JCAP, 07:014, 2009.
- [92] Jung-Tsung Li and Tongyan Lin. Dynamics of millicharged dark matter in supernova remnants. Phys. Rev. D, 101(10):103034, 2020.
- [93] Ping-Kai Hu, Alexander Kusenko, and Volodymyr Takhistov. Dark Cosmic Rays. Phys. Lett. B, 768:18–22, 2017.
- [94] Y. Fukuda et al. Evidence for oscillation of atmospheric neutrinos. <u>Phys. Rev. Lett.</u>, 81:1562–1567, 1998.
- [95] James Alvey, Miguel Campos, Malcolm Fairbairn, and Tevong You. Detecting Light Dark Matter via Inelastic Cosmic Ray Collisions. Phys. Rev. Lett., 123:261802, 2019.
- [96] Ryan Plestid, Volodymyr Takhistov, Yu-Dai Tsai, Torsten Bringmann, Alexander Kusenko, and Maxim Pospelov. New Constraints on Millicharged Particles from Cosmic-ray Production. Phys. Rev. D, 102:115032, 2020.
- [97] Carlos Alberto Argüelles Delgado, Kevin James Kelly, and Víctor Muñoz Albornoz. Millicharged particles from the heavens: single- and multiple-scattering signatures. JHEP, 11:099, 2021.
- [98] Syuhei Iguro, Ryan Plestid, and Volodymyr Takhistov. Monopoles From an Atmospheric Collider. 11 2021.
- [99] R. U. Abbasi et al. First observation of the Greisen-Zatsepin-Kuzmin suppression. Phys. Rev. Lett., 100:101101, 2008.
- [100] J. Abraham et al. Observation of the suppression of the flux of cosmic rays above 4×10^{19} eV. Phys. Rev. Lett., 101:061101, 2008.
- [101] Alexander Aab et al. Features of the Energy Spectrum of Cosmic Rays above 2.5×10^{18} eV Using the Pierre Auger Observatory. <u>Phys. Rev. Lett.</u>, 125(12):121106, 2020.
- [102] Roberto Aloisio, V. Berezinsky, and M. Kachelriess. On the status of superheavy dark matter. Phys. Rev. D, 74:023516, 2006.
- [103] Daniel J. H. Chung, Glennys R. Farrar, and Edward W. Kolb. Are ultrahigh-energy cosmic rays signals of supersymmetry? Phys. Rev. D, 57:4606–4613, 1998.

- [104] V. Berezinsky and M. Kachelriess. Ultrahigh-energy LSP. Phys. Lett. B, 422:163– 170, 1998.
- [105] Daniel J. H. Chung, Edward W. Kolb, and Antonio Riotto. Superheavy dark matter. Phys. Rev. D, 59:023501, 1998.
- [106] Vadim Kuzmin and Igor Tkachev. Ultrahigh-energy cosmic rays, superheavy long living particles, and matter creation after inflation. JETP Lett., 68:271–275, 1998.
- [107] R. Aloisio and F. Tortorici. Super Heavy Dark Matter and UHECR Anisotropy at Low Energy. <u>Astropart. Phys.</u>, 29:307–316, 2008.
- [108] S. L. Dubovsky and P. G. Tinyakov. Galactic anisotropy as signature of CDM related ultrahigh-energy cosmic rays. JETP Lett., 68:107–111, 1998.
- [109] Michael Birkel and Subir Sarkar. Extremely high-energy cosmic rays from relic particle decays. Astropart. Phys., 9:297–309, 1998.
- [110] Subir Sarkar and Ramon Toldra. The High-energy cosmic ray spectrum from relic particle decay. Nucl. Phys. B, 621:495–520, 2002.
- [111] Cyrille Barbot and Manuel Drees. Production of ultraenergetic cosmic rays through the decay of superheavy X particles. Phys. Lett. B, 533:107–115, 2002.
- [112] Oleg Kalashev, Mikhail Kuznetsov, and Yana Zhezher. Constraining superheavy decaying dark matter with directional ultra-high energy gamma-ray limits. JCAP, 11:016, 2021.
- [113] K. Choi et al. Search for neutrinos from annihilation of captured low-mass dark matter particles in the Sun by Super-Kamiokande. <u>Phys. Rev. Lett.</u>, 114(14):141301, 2015.
- [114] M.G. Aartsen et al. Search for annihilating dark matter in the Sun with 3 years of IceCube data. <u>Eur. Phys. J. C</u>, 77(3):146, 2017. [Erratum: Eur.Phys.J.C 79, 214 (2019)].
- [115] K. Abe et al. Indirect search for dark matter from the Galactic Center and halo with the Super-Kamiokande detector. Phys. Rev. D, 102(7):072002, 2020.
- [116] M.G. Aartsen et al. Search for Neutrinos from Dark Matter Self-Annihilations in the center of the Milky Way with 3 years of IceCube/DeepCore. <u>Eur. Phys. J. C</u>, 77(9):627, 2017.
- [117] R. Abbasi et al. Search for dark matter from the Galactic halo with the IceCube Neutrino Telescope. Phys. Rev. D, 84:022004, 2011.
- [118] John F. Beacom, Nicole F. Bell, and Gregory D. Mack. General Upper Bound on the Dark Matter Total Annihilation Cross Section. Phys. Rev. Lett., 99:231301, 2007.

- [119] Hasan Yuksel, Shunsaku Horiuchi, John F. Beacom, and Shin'ichiro Ando. Neutrino Constraints on the Dark Matter Total Annihilation Cross Section. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 76:123506, 2007.
- [120] C.A. Argüelles, G. de Wasseige, A. Fedynitch, and B.J. P. Jones. Solar Atmospheric Neutrinos and the Sensitivity Floor for Solar Dark Matter Annihilation Searches. JCAP, 07:024, 2017.
- [121] Kenny C. Y. Ng, John F. Beacom, Annika H. G. Peter, and Carsten Rott. Solar Atmospheric Neutrinos: A New Neutrino Floor for Dark Matter Searches. <u>Phys. Rev.</u>, D96(10):103006, 2017.
- [122] Joakim Edsjo, Jessica Elevant, Rikard Enberg, and Carl Niblaeus. Neutrinos from cosmic ray interactions in the Sun. JCAP, 06:033, 2017.
- [123] M. Masip. High energy neutrinos from the Sun. Astropart. Phys., 97:63–68, 2018.
- [124] Matthias Danninger and Carsten Rott. Solar WIMPs unravelled: Experiments, astrophysical uncertainties, and interactive tools. Phys. Dark Univ., 5-6:35–44, 2014.
- [125] K. Choi, Carsten Rott, and Yoshitaka Itow. Impact of the dark matter velocity distribution on capture rates in the Sun. JCAP, 05:049, 2014.
- [126] A. Nuñez-Castiñeyra, E. Nezri, and V. Bertin. Dark matter capture by the Sun: revisiting velocity distribution uncertainties. JCAP, 12:043, 2019.
- [127] Kaustubh Agashe, Yanou Cui, Lina Necib, and Jesse Thaler. (In)direct Detection of Boosted Dark Matter. JCAP, 10:062, 2014.
- [128] Joshua Berger, Yanou Cui, and Yue Zhao. Detecting Boosted Dark Matter from the Sun with Large Volume Neutrino Detectors. JCAP, 02:005, 2015.
- [129] Kyoungchul Kong, Gopolang Mohlabeng, and Jong-Chul Park. Boosted dark matter signals uplifted with self-interaction. Phys. Lett. B, 743:256–266, 2015.
- [130] Doojin Kim, Jong-Chul Park, and Seodong Shin. Dark Matter "Collider" from Inelastic Boosted Dark Matter. <u>Phys. Rev. Lett.</u>, 119(16):161801, 2017.
- [131] C. Kachulis et al. Search for Boosted Dark Matter Interacting With Electrons in Super-Kamiokande. Phys. Rev. Lett., 120(22):221301, 2018.
- [132] Lina Necib, Jarrett Moon, Taritree Wongjirad, and Janet M. Conrad. Boosted Dark Matter at Neutrino Experiments. Phys. Rev. D, 95(7):075018, 2017.
- [133] Haider Alhazmi, Kyoungchul Kong, Gopolang Mohlabeng, and Jong-Chul Park. Boosted Dark Matter at the Deep Underground Neutrino Experiment. JHEP, 04:158, 2017.

- [134] Doojin Kim, Pedro A. N. Machado, Jong-Chul Park, and Seodong Shin. Optimizing Energetic Light Dark Matter Searches in Dark Matter and Neutrino Experiments. JHEP, 07:057, 2020.
- [135] Albert De Roeck, Doojin Kim, Zahra Gh. Moghaddam, Jong-Chul Park, Seodong Shin, and Leigh H. Whitehead. Probing Energetic Light Dark Matter with Multi-Particle Tracks Signatures at DUNE. JHEP, 11:043, 2020.
- [136] B. Abi et al. Prospects for beyond the Standard Model physics searches at the Deep Underground Neutrino Experiment. Eur. Phys. J. C, 81(4):322, 2021.
- [137] Joshua Berger, Yanou Cui, Mathew Graham, Lina Necib, Gianluca Petrillo, Dane Stocks, Yun-Tse Tsai, and Yue Zhao. Prospects for detecting boosted dark matter in dune through hadronic interactions. Phys. Rev. D, 103:095012, May 2021.
- [138] M. G. Aartsen et al. Time-Integrated Neutrino Source Searches with 10 Years of IceCube Data. Phys. Rev. Lett., 124(5):051103, 2020.
- [139] Brian Feldstein, Alexander Kusenko, Shigeki Matsumoto, and Tsutomu T. Yanagida. Neutrinos at IceCube from Heavy Decaying Dark Matter. <u>Phys.Rev.</u>, D88(1):015004, 2013.
- [140] Arman Esmaili and Pasquale Dario Serpico. Are IceCube neutrinos unveiling PeVscale decaying dark matter? JCAP, 1311:054, 2013.
- [141] Atri Bhattacharya, Mary Hall Reno, and Ina Sarcevic. Reconciling neutrino flux from heavy dark matter decay and recent events at IceCube. JHEP, 06:110, 2014.
- [142] Chee Sheng Fong, Hisakazu Minakata, Boris Panes, and Renata Zukanovich Funchal. Possible Interpretations of IceCube High-Energy Neutrino Events. JHEP, 02:189, 2015.
- [143] Tetsutaro Higaki, Ryuichiro Kitano, and Ryosuke Sato. Neutrinoful Universe. JHEP, 1407:044, 2014.
- [144] Carsten Rott, Kazunori Kohri, and Seong Chan Park. Superheavy dark matter and IceCube neutrino signals:bounds on decaying dark matter. 2014.
- [145] P. S. Bhupal Dev, D. Kazanas, R. N. Mohapatra, V. L. Teplitz, and Yongchao Zhang. Heavy right-handed neutrino dark matter and PeV neutrinos at IceCube. <u>JCAP</u>, 08:034, 2016.
- [146] Pasquale Di Bari, Patrick Otto Ludl, and Sergio Palomares-Ruiz. Unifying leptogenesis, dark matter and high-energy neutrinos with right-handed neutrino mixing via Higgs portal. JCAP, 11:044, 2016.
- [147] M. Kachelriess, O. E. Kalashev, and M. Yu. Kuznetsov. Heavy decaying dark matter and IceCube high energy neutrinos. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 98(8):083016, 2018.

- [148] Sofiane M. Boucenna, Marco Chianese, Gianpiero Mangano, Gennaro Miele, Stefano Morisi, Ofelia Pisanti, and Edoardo Vitagliano. Decaying Leptophilic Dark Matter at IceCube. JCAP, 12:055, 2015.
- [149] Marco Chianese, Gennaro Miele, Stefano Morisi, and Eduardo Peinado. Neutrinophilic Dark Matter in the epoch of IceCube and Fermi-LAT. JCAP, 12:016, 2018.
- [150] Nagisa Hiroshima, Ryuichiro Kitano, Kazunori Kohri, and Kohta Murase. Highenergy neutrinos from multibody decaying dark matter. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 97(2):023006, 2018.
- [151] Carlos A. Argüelles, Ali Kheirandish, and Aaron C. Vincent. Imaging Galactic Dark Matter with High-Energy Cosmic Neutrinos. Phys. Rev. Lett., 119:201801, 2017.
- [152] Kohta Murase and Ian M. Shoemaker. Neutrino Echoes from Multimessenger Transient Sources. Phys. Rev. Lett., 123(24):241102, 2019.
- [153] A. Albert et al. Combined search for neutrinos from dark matter self-annihilation in the Galactic Center with ANTARES and IceCube. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 102(8):082002, 2020.
- [154] M. G. Aartsen et al. Search for neutrinos from decaying dark matter with IceCube. Eur. Phys. J. C, 78(10):831, 2018.
- [155] Marco Chianese, Damiano F. G. Fiorillo, Rasmi Hajjar, Gennaro Miele, Stefano Morisi, and Ninetta Saviano. Heavy decaying dark matter at future neutrino radio telescopes. JCAP, 05:074, 2021.
- [156] Yang Bai, Ran Lu, and Jordi Salvado. Geometric Compatibility of IceCube TeV-PeV Neutrino Excess and its Galactic Dark Matter Origin. 2013.
- [157] Simeon Bird, Ilias Cholis, Julian B. Muñoz, Yacine Ali-Haïmoud, Marc Kamionkowski, Ely D. Kovetz, Alvise Raccanelli, and Adam G. Riess. Did LIGO detect dark matter? Phys. Rev. Lett., 116(20):201301, 2016.
- [158] Misao Sasaki, Teruaki Suyama, Takahiro Tanaka, and Shuichiro Yokoyama. Primordial Black Hole Scenario for the Gravitational-Wave Event GW150914. <u>Phys. Rev.</u> Lett., 117(6):061101, 2016. [Erratum: Phys.Rev.Lett. 121, 059901 (2018)].
- [159] Bernard Carr, Martti Raidal, Tommi Tenkanen, Ville Vaskonen, and Hardi Veermäe. Primordial black hole constraints for extended mass functions. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 96(2):023514, 2017.
- [160] R. A. Allsman et al. MACHO project limits on black hole dark matter in the 1-30 solar mass range. Astrophys. J. Lett., 550:L169, 2001.
- [161] Yacine Ali-Haïmoud and Marc Kamionkowski. Cosmic microwave background limits on accreting primordial black holes. Phys. Rev. D, 95(4):043534, 2017.

- [162] Vivian Poulin, Pasquale D. Serpico, Francesca Calore, Sebastien Clesse, and Kazunori Kohri. CMB bounds on disk-accreting massive primordial black holes. Phys. Rev. D, 96(8):083524, 2017.
- [163] Philip Lu, Volodymyr Takhistov, Graciela B. Gelmini, Kohei Hayashi, Yoshiyuki Inoue, and Alexander Kusenko. Constraining Primordial Black Holes with Dwarf Galaxy Heating. Astrophys. J. Lett., 908(2):L23, 2021.
- [164] Yu-Dai Tsai, Antonella Palmese, Stefano Profumo, and Tesla Jeltema. Is GW170817 a Multimessenger Neutron Star-Primordial Black Hole Merger? JCAP, 10:019, 2021.
- [165] Volodymyr Takhistov, Philip Lu, Graciela B. Gelmini, Kohei Hayashi, Yoshiyuki Inoue, and Alexander Kusenko. Interstellar Gas Heating by Primordial Black Holes. 5 2021.
- [166] Gert Hütsi, Martti Raidal, Ville Vaskonen, and Hardi Veermäe. Two populations of LIGO-Virgo black holes. JCAP, 03:068, 2021.
- [167] V. De Luca, G. Franciolini, P. Pani, and A. Riotto. Bayesian Evidence for Both Astrophysical and Primordial Black Holes: Mapping the GWTC-2 Catalog to Third-Generation Detectors. JCAP, 05:003, 2021.
- [168] Karsten Jedamzik. Consistency of Primordial Black Hole Dark Matter with LIGO/Virgo Merger Rates. Phys. Rev. Lett., 126(5):051302, 2021.
- [169] Ely D. Kovetz. Probing Primordial-Black-Hole Dark Matter with Gravitational Waves. Phys. Rev. Lett., 119(13):131301, 2017.
- [170] R. Abbott et al. Population Properties of Compact Objects from the Second LIGO-Virgo Gravitational-Wave Transient Catalog. Astrophys. J. Lett., 913(1):L7, 2021.
- [171] Eric Cotner, Alexander Kusenko, and Volodymyr Takhistov. Primordial Black Holes from Inflaton Fragmentation into Oscillons. Phys. Rev. D, 98(8):083513, 2018.
- [172] Eric Cotner, Alexander Kusenko, Misao Sasaki, and Volodymyr Takhistov. Analytic Description of Primordial Black Hole Formation from Scalar Field Fragmentation. JCAP, 10:077, 2019.
- [173] Tomohiro Harada, Chul-Moon Yoo, Kazunori Kohri, and Ken-Ichi Nakao. Spins of primordial black holes formed in the matter-dominated phase of the Universe. <u>Phys.</u> Rev. D, 96(8):083517, 2017. [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 99, 069904 (2019)].
- [174] V. De Luca, G. Franciolini, P. Pani, and A. Riotto. The evolution of primordial black holes and their final observable spins. JCAP, 04:052, 2020.
- [175] Volodymyr Takhistov, Philip Lu, Kohta Murase, Yoshiyuki Inoue, and Graciela B. Gelmini. Impacts of Jets and Winds From Primordial Black Holes. 11 2021.

- [176] Misao Sasaki, Volodymyr Takhistov, Valeri Vardanyan, and Ying-li Zhang. Establishing the Non-Primordial Origin of Black Hole-Neutron Star Mergers. 10 2021.
- [177] B. P. Abbott et al. GW170817: Observation of Gravitational Waves from a Binary Neutron Star Inspiral. Phys. Rev. Lett., 119(16):161101, 2017.
- [178] B. P. Abbott et al. GW190425: Observation of a Compact Binary Coalescence with Total Mass $\sim 3.4 M_{\odot}$. Astrophys. J. Lett., 892(1):L3, 2020.
- [179] R. Abbott et al. GW190521: A Binary Black Hole Merger with a Total Mass of $150M_{\odot}$. Phys. Rev. Lett., 125(10):101102, 2020.
- [180] R. Abbott et al. GW190814: Gravitational Waves from the Coalescence of a 23 Solar Mass Black Hole with a 2.6 Solar Mass Compact Object. <u>Astrophys. J. Lett.</u>, 896(2):L44, 2020.
- [181] Sebastien Clesse and Juan Garcia-Bellido. GW190425, GW190521 and GW190814: Three candidate mergers of primordial black holes from the QCD epoch. 7 2020.
- [182] Volodymyr Takhistov. Transmuted Gravity Wave Signals from Primordial Black Holes. Phys. Lett. B, 782:77–82, 2018.
- [183] Volodymyr Takhistov, George M. Fuller, and Alexander Kusenko. Test for the Origin of Solar Mass Black Holes. Phys. Rev. Lett., 126(7):071101, 2021.
- [184] Ilias Cholis, Ely D. Kovetz, Yacine Ali-Haïmoud, Simeon Bird, Marc Kamionkowski, Julian B. Muñoz, and Alvise Raccanelli. Orbital eccentricities in primordial black hole binaries. Phys. Rev. D, 94(8):084013, 2016.
- [185] Sebastien Clesse and Juan García-Bellido. Detecting the gravitational wave background from primordial black hole dark matter. <u>Phys. Dark Univ.</u>, 18:105–114, 2017.
- [186] Johan Samsing. Eccentric Black Hole Mergers Forming in Globular Clusters. Phys. Rev. D, 97(10):103014, 2018.
- [187] László Gondán, Bence Kocsis, Péter Raffai, and Zsolt Frei. Eccentric Black Hole Gravitational-Wave Capture Sources in Galactic Nuclei: Distribution of Binary Parameters. Astrophys. J., 860(1):5, 2018.
- [188] Vuk Mandic, Simeon Bird, and Ilias Cholis. Stochastic Gravitational-Wave Background due to Primordial Binary Black Hole Mergers. <u>Phys. Rev. Lett.</u>, 117(20):201102, 2016.
- [189] Tomohiro Nakama, Joseph Silk, and Marc Kamionkowski. Stochastic gravitational waves associated with the formation of primordial black holes. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 95(4):043511, 2017.
- [190] Nicola Bartolo et al. Science with the space-based interferometer LISA. IV: Probing inflation with gravitational waves. JCAP, 12:026, 2016.

- [191] Tansu Daylan, Douglas P. Finkbeiner, Dan Hooper, Tim Linden, Stephen K. N. Portillo, Nicholas L. Rodd, and Tracy R. Slatyer. The characterization of the gamma-ray signal from the central Milky Way: A case for annihilating dark matter. <u>Phys. Dark</u> Univ., 12:1–23, 2016.
- [192] J. H. Jeans. On the theory of star-streaming and the structure of the universe. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 76:70–84, December 1915.
- [193] Laura J. Chang and Lina Necib. Dark matter density profiles in dwarf galaxies: linking Jeans modelling systematics and observation. <u>Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.</u>, 507(4):4715–4733, 2021.
- [194] Juan Guerra, Marla Geha, and Louis E. Strigari. Forecasts on the Dark Matter Density Profiles of Dwarf Spheroidal Galaxies with Current and Future Kinematic Observations. 12 2021.
- [195] Joe Wolf, Gregory D. Martinez, James S. Bullock, Manoj Kaplinghat, Marla Geha, Ricardo R. Munoz, Joshua D. Simon, and Frank F. Avedo. Accurate Masses for Dispersion-supported Galaxies. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 406:1220, 2010.
- [196] Matthew G. Walker and Jorge Penarrubia. A Method for Measuring (Slopes of) the Mass Profiles of Dwarf Spheroidal Galaxies. <u>Astrophys. J.</u>, 742:20, 2011.
- [197] George Rhee, Anatoly Klypin, and Octavio Valenzuela. The Rotation curves of dwarf galaxies: A Problem for cold dark matter? Astrophys. J., 617:1059–1076, 2004.
- [198] Octavio Valenzuela, George Rhee, Anatoly Klypin, Fabio Governato, Gregory Stinson, Thomas R. Quinn, and James Wadsley. Is there evidence for flat cores in the halos of dwarf galaxies?: the case of ngc 3109 and ngc 6822. <u>Astrophys. J.</u>, 657:773–789, 2007.
- [199] Louis E. Strigari, James S. Bullock, and Manoj Kaplinghat. Determining the Nature of Dark Matter with Astrometry. Astrophys. J. Lett., 657:L1–L4, 2007.
- [200] Alexandres Lazar and James S. Bullock. Accurate mass estimates from the proper motions of dispersion-supported galaxies. <u>Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.</u>, 493(4):5825–5837, 2020.
- [201] Kohei Hayashi, Masashi Chiba, and Tomoaki Ishiyama. Diversity of Dark Matter Density Profiles in the Galactic Dwarf Spheroidal Satellites. <u>Astrophys. J.</u>, 904(1):45, 2020.
- [202] Shin'ichiro Ando, Alex Geringer-Sameth, Nagisa Hiroshima, Sebastian Hoof, Roberto Trotta, and Matthew G. Walker. Structure formation models weaken limits on WIMP dark matter from dwarf spheroidal galaxies. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 102(6):061302, 2020.
- [203] Gianfranco Bertone and Malcolm Fairbairn. Compact Stars as Dark Matter Probes. Phys. Rev. D, 77:043515, 2008.

- [204] Katherine Freese, Paolo Gondolo, J. A. Sellwood, and Douglas Spolyar. Dark Matter Densities during the Formation of the First Stars and in Dark Stars. <u>Astrophys. J.</u>, 693:1563–1569, 2009.
- [205] Masha Baryakhtar, Joseph Bramante, Shirley Weishi Li, Tim Linden, and Nirmal Raj. Dark Kinetic Heating of Neutron Stars and An Infrared Window On WIMPs, SIMPs, and Pure Higgsinos. Phys. Rev. Lett., 119(13):131801, 2017.
- [206] Javier F. Acevedo, Joseph Bramante, Rebecca K. Leane, and Nirmal Raj. Warming Nuclear Pasta with Dark Matter: Kinetic and Annihilation Heating of Neutron Star Crusts. JCAP, 03:038, 2020.
- [207] Rebecca K. Leane and Juri Smirnov. Exoplanets as Sub-GeV Dark Matter Detectors. Phys. Rev. Lett., 126(16):161101, 2021.
- [208] Brian Batell, Maxim Pospelov, Adam Ritz, and Yanwen Shang. Solar Gamma Rays Powered by Secluded Dark Matter. Phys. Rev. D, 81:075004, 2010.
- [209] Patrick Meade, Shmuel Nussinov, Michele Papucci, and Tomer Volansky. Searches for Long Lived Neutral Particles. JHEP, 06:029, 2010.
- [210] Philip Schuster, Natalia Toro, Neal Weiner, and Itay Yavin. High Energy Electron Signals from Dark Matter Annihilation in the Sun. Phys. Rev. D, 82:115012, 2010.
- [211] Philip Schuster, Natalia Toro, and Itay Yavin. Terrestrial and Solar Limits on Long-Lived Particles in a Dark Sector. Phys. Rev. D, 81:016002, 2010.
- [212] Nicole F. Bell and Kalliopi Petraki. Enhanced neutrino signals from dark matter annihilation in the Sun via metastable mediators. JCAP, 04:003, 2011.
- [213] Rebecca K. Leane, Kenny C. Y. Ng, and John F. Beacom. Powerful Solar Signatures of Long-Lived Dark Mediators. Phys. Rev. D, 95(12):123016, 2017.
- [214] A. Albert et al. Constraints on Spin-Dependent Dark Matter Scattering with Long-Lived Mediators from TeV Observations of the Sun with HAWC. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 98:123012, 2018.
- [215] M. U. Nisa, J. F. Beacom, S. Y. BenZvi, R. K. Leane, T. Linden, K. C. Y. Ng, A. H. G. Peter, and B. Zhou. The Sun at GeV–TeV Energies: A New Laboratory for Astroparticle Physics. 3 2019.
- [216] Rebecca K. Leane and Tim Linden. First Analysis of Jupiter in Gamma Rays and a New Search for Dark Matter. 4 2021.
- [217] Rebecca K. Leane, Tim Linden, Payel Mukhopadhyay, and Natalia Toro. Celestial-Body Focused Dark Matter Annihilation Throughout the Galaxy. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 103(7):075030, 2021.

- [218] Fabio Capela, Maxim Pshirkov, and Peter Tinyakov. Constraints on primordial black holes as dark matter candidates from capture by neutron stars. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 87(12):123524, 2013.
- [219] George M. Fuller, Alexander Kusenko, and Volodymyr Takhistov. Primordial Black Holes and *r*-Process Nucleosynthesis. Phys. Rev. Lett., 119(6):061101, 2017.
- [220] Joseph Bramante, Tim Linden, and Yu-Dai Tsai. Searching for dark matter with neutron star mergers and quiet kilonovae. Phys. Rev. D, 97(5):055016, 2018.
- [221] Volodymyr Takhistov. Positrons from Primordial Black Hole Microquasars and Gamma-ray Bursts. Phys. Lett. B, 789:538–544, 2019.
- [222] Chris Kouvaris, Peter Tinyakov, and Michel H. G. Tytgat. NonPrimordial Solar Mass Black Holes. Phys. Rev. Lett., 121(22):221102, 2018.
- [223] Yoann Génolini, Pasquale Serpico, and Peter Tinyakov. Revisiting primordial black hole capture into neutron stars. Phys. Rev. D, 102(8):083004, 2020.
- [224] Basudeb Dasgupta, Ranjan Laha, and Anupam Ray. Low Mass Black Holes from Dark Core Collapse. Phys. Rev. Lett., 126(14):141105, 2021.
- [225] Marek A. Abramowicz, Michał Bejger, and Maciek Wielgus. Collisions of neutron stars with primordial black holes as fast radio bursts engines. <u>Astrophys. J.</u>, 868(1):17, 2018.
- [226] Kimmo Kainulainen, Sami Nurmi, Enrico D. Schiappacasse, and Tsutomu T. Yanagida. Can primordial black holes as all dark matter explain fast radio bursts? Phys. Rev. D, 104(12):123033, 2021.
- [227] S. M. Faber and J. S. Gallagher. Masses and mass-to-light ratios of galaxies. <u>ARA&A</u>, 17:135–187, 1979.
- [228] A. M. Green, S. Hofmann, and D. J. Schwarz. The power spectrum of SUSY-CDM on subgalactic scales. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 353:L23–L27, September 2004.
- [229] J. F. Navarro, C. S. Frenk, and S. D. M. White. A Universal Density Profile from Hierarchical Clustering. ApJ, 490:493, December 1997.
- [230] James S. Bullock and Michael Boylan-Kolchin. Small-Scale Challenges to the ΛCDM Paradigm. <u>ARA&A</u>, 55(1):343–387, August 2017.
- [231] A. Klypin, A. V. Kravtsov, O. Valenzuela, and F. Prada. Where Are the Missing Galactic Satellites? ApJ, 522:82–92, September 1999.
- [232] B. Moore, S. Ghigna, F. Governato, G. Lake, T. Quinn, J. Stadel, and P. Tozzi. Dark Matter Substructure within Galactic Halos. ApJ, 524:L19–L22, October 1999.
- [233] R. A. Flores and J. R. Primack. Observational and theoretical constraints on singular dark matter halos. ApJ, 427:L1–L4, May 1994.

- [234] M. Boylan-Kolchin, J. S. Bullock, and M. Kaplinghat. Too big to fail? The puzzling darkness of massive Milky Way subhaloes. <u>Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.</u>, 415:L40– L44, July 2011.
- [235] M. Boylan-Kolchin, J. S. Bullock, and M. Kaplinghat. The Milky Way's bright satellites as an apparent failure of ΛCDM. <u>Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.</u>, 422:1203–1218, May 2012.
- [236] K. A. Oman, J. F. Navarro, A. Fattahi, C. S. Frenk, T. Sawala, S. D. M. White, R. Bower, R. A. Crain, M. Furlong, M. Schaller, J. Schaye, and T. Theuns. The unexpected diversity of dwarf galaxy rotation curves. <u>Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.</u>, 452:3650–3665, October 2015.
- [237] Manoj Kaplinghat, Tao Ren, and Hai-Bo Yu. Dark matter cores and cusps in spiral galaxies and their explanations. JCAP, 2020(6):027, June 2020.
- [238] A. Del Popolo and M. Le Delliou. Small Scale Problems of the Λ CDM Model: A Short Review. Galaxies, 5:17, February 2017.
- [239] J. R. Bond, A. S. Szalay, and M. S. Turner. Formation of galaxies in a gravitinodominated universe. Phys. Rev. Lett., 48:1636–1639, June 1982.
- [240] P. Bode, J. P. Ostriker, and N. Turok. Halo Formation in Warm Dark Matter Models. ApJ, 556:93–107, July 2001.
- [241] W. Hu, R. Barkana, and A. Gruzinov. Fuzzy Cold Dark Matter: The Wave Properties of Ultralight Particles. Phys. Rev. Lett., 85:1158, August 2000.
- [242] P. J. E. Peebles. Fluid Dark Matter. ApJ, 534(2):L127–L129, May 2000.
- [243] B. J. Carr and S. W. Hawking. Black holes in the early Universe. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 168:399–416, August 1974.
- [244] Simeon Bird, Ilias Cholis, Julian B. Muñoz, Yacine Ali-Haïmoud, Marc Kamionkowski, Ely D. Kovetz, Alvise Raccanelli, and Adam G. Riess. Did LIGO Detect Dark Matter? Phys. Rev. Lett., 116(20):201301, May 2016.
- [245] A. Schneider, R. E. Smith, A. V. Macciò, and B. Moore. Non-linear evolution of cosmological structures in warm dark matter models. <u>Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.</u>, 424:684–698, July 2012.
- [246] F. Governato, A. Zolotov, A. Pontzen, C. Christensen, S. H. Oh, A. M. Brooks, T. Quinn, S. Shen, and J. Wadsley. Cuspy no more: how outflows affect the central dark matter and baryon distribution in Λ cold dark matter galaxies. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 422:1231–1240, May 2012.
- [247] A. M. Brooks and A. Zolotov. Why Baryons Matter: The Kinematics of Dwarf Spheroidal Satellites. ApJ, 786:87, May 2014.

- [248] J. Oñorbe, M. Boylan-Kolchin, J. S. Bullock, P. F. Hopkins, D. Kereš, C.-A. Faucher-Giguère, E. Quataert, and N. Murray. Forged in FIRE: cusps, cores and baryons in low-mass dwarf galaxies. <u>Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.</u>, 454:2092–2106, December 2015.
- [249] A. M. Brooks, E. Papastergis, C. R. Christensen, F. Governato, A. Stilp, T. R. Quinn, and J. Wadsley. How to Reconcile the Observed Velocity Function of Galaxies with Theory. ApJ, 850:97, November 2017.
- [250] Jesús Zavala and Carlos S. Frenk. Dark Matter Haloes and Subhaloes. <u>Galaxies</u>, 7(4):81, September 2019.
- [251] A. V. Macciò and F. Fontanot. How cold is dark matter? Constraints from Milky Way satellites. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 404:L16–L20, May 2010.
- [252] M. R. Lovell, V. Eke, C. S. Frenk, L. Gao, A. Jenkins, T. Theuns, J. Wang, S. D. M. White, A. Boyarsky, and O. Ruchayskiy. The haloes of bright satellite galaxies in a warm dark matter universe. <u>Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.</u>, 420:2318–2324, March 2012.
- [253] J. S. Bullock, A. V. Kravtsov, and D. H. Weinberg. Reionization and the Abundance of Galactic Satellites. ApJ, 539:517–521, August 2000.
- [254] R. S. Somerville and R. Davé. Physical Models of Galaxy Formation in a Cosmological Framework. ARA&A, 53:51–113, August 2015.
- [255] M. K. Rodriguez Wimberly, M. C. Cooper, S. P. Fillingham, M. Boylan-Kolchin, J. S. Bullock, and S. Garrison-Kimmel. The suppression of star formation on the smallest scales: what role does environment play? <u>Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.</u>, 483:4031– 4039, March 2019.
- [256] N. Menci, A. Merle, M. Totzauer, A. Schneider, A. Grazian, M. Castellano, and N. G. Sanchez. Fundamental Physics with the Hubble Frontier Fields: Constraining Dark Matter Models with the Abundance of Extremely Faint and Distant Galaxies. <u>ApJ</u>, 836:61, February 2017.
- [257] Daniel R. Weisz and Michael Boylan-Kolchin. Local group ultra-faint dwarf galaxies in the reionization era. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 469:L83, 2017.
- [258] G. R. Blumenthal, S. M. Faber, R. Flores, and J. R. Primack. Contraction of dark matter galactic halos due to baryonic infall. ApJ, 301:27–34, February 1986.
- [259] O. Y. Gnedin, A. V. Kravtsov, A. A. Klypin, and D. Nagai. Response of Dark Matter Halos to Condensation of Baryons: Cosmological Simulations and Improved Adiabatic Contraction Model. <u>ApJ</u>, 616:16–26, November 2004.
- [260] A. Di Cintio, C. B. Brook, A. V. Macciò, G. S. Stinson, A. Knebe, A. A. Dutton, and J. Wadsley. The dependence of dark matter profiles on the stellar-to-halo mass ratio: a prediction for cusps versus cores. <u>Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.</u>, 437:415– 423, January 2014.

- [261] E. Tollet, A. V. Macciò, A. A. Dutton, G. S. Stinson, L. Wang, C. Penzo, T. A. Gutcke, T. Buck, X. Kang, C. Brook, A. Di Cintio, B. W. Keller, and J. Wadsley. NIHAO -IV: core creation and destruction in dark matter density profiles across cosmic time. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 456:3542–3552, March 2016.
- [262] A. Fitts, M. Boylan-Kolchin, O. D. Elbert, J. S. Bullock, P. F. Hopkins, J. Onorbe, A. R. Wetzel, C. Wheeler, C.-A. Faucher-Giguere, D. Keres, E. D. Skillman, and D. R. Weisz. FIRE in the Field: Simulating the Threshold of Galaxy Formation. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 471:3547–3562, November 2017.
- [263] Gohar Dashyan, Joseph Silk, Gary A. Mamon, Yohan Dubois, and Tilman Hartwig. AGN feedback in dwarf galaxies? <u>Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.</u>, 473(4):5698–5703, February 2018.
- [264] K. A. Oman, A. Marasco, J. F. Navarro, C. S. Frenk, J. Schaye, and A. Benítez-Llambay. Non-circular motions and the diversity of dwarf galaxy rotation curves. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 482:821–847, January 2019.
- [265] J. Wolf, G. D. Martinez, J. S. Bullock, M. Kaplinghat, M. Geha, R. R. Muñoz, J. D. Simon, and F. F. Avedo. Accurate masses for dispersion-supported galaxies. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 406:1220–1237, August 2010.
- [266] J. Thomas, R. P. Saglia, R. Bender, D. Thomas, K. Gebhardt, J. Magorrian, E. M. Corsini, G. Wegner, and S. Seitz. Dynamical masses of early-type galaxies: a comparison to lensing results and implications for the stellar initial mass function and the distribution of dark matter. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 415:545–562, July 2011.
- [267] J. Billard, L. Strigari, and E. Figueroa-Feliciano. Implication of neutrino backgrounds on the reach of next generation dark matter direct detection experiments. Phys. Rev. D, 89(2):023524, 2014.
- [268] Jocelyn Monroe and Peter Fisher. Neutrino Backgrounds to Dark Matter Searches. Phys. Rev. D, 76:033007, 2007.
- [269] F. Ruppin, J. Billard, E. Figueroa-Feliciano, and L. Strigari. Complementarity of dark matter detectors in light of the neutrino background. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 90(8):083510, 2014.
- [270] Graciela B. Gelmini, Volodymyr Takhistov, and Samuel J. Witte. Casting a Wide Signal Net with Future Direct Dark Matter Detection Experiments. <u>JCAP</u>, 07:009, 2018. [Erratum: JCAP 02, E02 (2019)].
- [271] Ciaran A. J. O'Hare. New Definition of the Neutrino Floor for Direct Dark Matter Searches. Phys. Rev. Lett., 127(25):251802, 2021.
- [272] W.C. Haxton, R.G. Hamish Robertson, and Aldo M. Serenelli. Solar Neutrinos: Status and Prospects. Ann. Rev. Astron. Astrophys., 51:21–61, 2013.

- [273] M. Honda, T. Kajita, K. Kasahara, and S. Midorikawa. Calculation of the flux of atmospheric neutrinos. Phys. Rev. D, 52:4985–5005, 1995.
- [274] G. Battistoni, A. Ferrari, T. Montaruli, and P. R. Sala. The atmospheric neutrino flux below 100-MeV: The FLUKA results. Astropart. Phys., 23:526–534, 2005.
- [275] Jayden L. Newstead, Rafael F. Lang, and Louis E. Strigari. Atmospheric neutrinos in next-generation xenon and argon dark matter experiments. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 104(11):115022, 2021.
- [276] M. Honda, T. Kajita, K. Kasahara, and S. Midorikawa. Improvement of low energy atmospheric neutrino flux calculation using the JAM nuclear interaction model. Phys. Rev. D, 83:123001, 2011.
- [277] John F. Beacom and Mark R. Vagins. GADZOOKS! Anti-neutrino spectroscopy with large water Cherenkov detectors. Phys. Rev. Lett., 93:171101, 2004.
- [278] K. Abe et al. First Gadolinium Loading to Super-Kamiokande. 9 2021.
- [279] John F. Beacom. The Diffuse Supernova Neutrino Background. <u>Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part.</u> Sci., 60:439–462, 2010.
- [280] Cecilia Lunardini. Diffuse supernova neutrinos at underground laboratories. Astropart. Phys., 79:49–77, 2016.
- [281] Shunsaku Horiuchi, Kohsuke Sumiyoshi, Ko Nakamura, Tobias Fischer, Alexander Summa, Tomoya Takiwaki, Hans-Thomas Janka, and Kei Kotake. Diffuse supernova neutrino background from extensive core-collapse simulations of $8-100M_{\odot}$ progenitors. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 475(1):1363–1374, 2018.
- [282] Daniel Kresse, Thomas Ertl, and Hans-Thomas Janka. Stellar Collapse Diversity and the Diffuse Supernova Neutrino Background. Astrophys. J., 909(2):169, 2021.
- [283] Shunsaku Horiuchi, Tomoya Kinugawa, Tomoya Takiwaki, Koh Takahashi, and Kei Kotake. Impact of binary interactions on the diffuse supernova neutrino background. Phys. Rev. D, 103(4):043003, 2021.
- [284] Martin Asplund, Nicolas Grevesse, A. Jacques Sauval, and Pat Scott. The chemical composition of the Sun. Ann. Rev. Astron. Astrophys., 47:481–522, 2009.
- [285] Francesco L. Villante, Aldo M. Serenelli, Franck Delahaye, and Marc H. Pinsonneault. The chemical composition of the Sun from helioseismic and solar neutrino data. Astrophys. J., 787:13, 2014.
- [286] D. Baxter et al. Recommended conventions for reporting results from direct dark matter searches. Eur. Phys. J. C, 81(10):907, 2021.
- [287] C. E. Aalseth et al. DarkSide-20k: A 20 tonne two-phase LAr TPC for direct dark matter detection at LNGS. Eur. Phys. J. Plus, 133:131, 2018.

- [288] J. Aalbers et al. DARWIN: towards the ultimate dark matter detector. JCAP, 11:017, 2016.
- [289] J. Billard, L. E. Strigari, and E. Figueroa-Feliciano. Solar neutrino physics with low-threshold dark matter detectors. Phys. Rev. D, 91(9):095023, 2015.
- [290] J. Aalbers et al. Solar neutrino detection sensitivity in DARWIN via electron scattering. Eur. Phys. J. C, 80(12):1133, 2020.
- [291] Rafael F. Lang, Christopher McCabe, Shayne Reichard, Marco Selvi, and Irene Tamborra. Supernova neutrino physics with xenon dark matter detectors: A timely perspective. Phys. Rev. D, 94(10):103009, 2016.
- [292] Graciela B. Gelmini, Volodymyr Takhistov, and Samuel J. Witte. Geoneutrinos in Large Direct Detection Experiments. Phys. Rev. D, 99(9):093009, 2019.
- [293] Nirmal Raj, Volodymyr Takhistov, and Samuel J. Witte. Presupernova neutrinos in large dark matter direct detection experiments. Phys. Rev. D, 101(4):043008, 2020.
- [294] Victor Munoz, Volodymyr Takhistov, Samuel J. Witte, and George M. Fuller. Exploring the origin of supermassive black holes with coherent neutrino scattering. JCAP, 11(11):020, 2021.
- [295] Sebastian Baum, Andrzej K. Drukier, Katherine Freese, Maciej Górski, and Patrick Stengel. Searching for Dark Matter with Paleo-Detectors. <u>Phys. Lett. B</u>, 803:135325, 2020.
- [296] Andrzej K. Drukier, Sebastian Baum, Katherine Freese, Maciej Górski, and Patrick Stengel. Paleo-detectors: Searching for Dark Matter with Ancient Minerals. <u>Phys.</u> <u>Rev. D</u>, 99(4):043014, 2019.
- [297] Sebastian Baum, Thomas D. P. Edwards, Bradley J. Kavanagh, Patrick Stengel, Andrzej K. Drukier, Katherine Freese, Maciej Górski, and Christoph Weniger. Paleodetectors for Galactic supernova neutrinos. Phys. Rev. D, 101(10):103017, 2020.
- [298] Sebastian Baum, William DeRocco, Thomas D. P. Edwards, and Saarik Kalia. Galactic geology: Probing time-varying dark matter signals with paleodetectors. <u>Phys.</u> Rev. D, 104(12):123015, 2021.
- [299] Natalia Tapia-Arellano and Shunsaku Horiuchi. Measuring solar neutrinos over gigayear timescales with paleo detectors. Phys. Rev. D, 103(12):123016, 2021.
- [300] Johnathon R. Jordan, Sebastian Baum, Patrick Stengel, Alfredo Ferrari, Maria Cristina Morone, Paola Sala, and Joshua Spitz. Measuring Changes in the Atmospheric Neutrino Rate Over Gigayear Timescales. <u>Phys. Rev. Lett.</u>, 125(23):231802, 2020.
- [301] Sebastian Baum, Thomas D. P. Edwards, Katherine Freese, and Patrick Stengel. New Projections for Dark Matter Searches with Paleo-Detectors. <u>Instruments</u>, 5(2):21, 2021.

- [302] Qiran Xia, Chao Liu, Shude Mao, Yingyi Song, Lan Zhang, R. J. Long, Yong Zhang, Yonghui Hou, Yuefei Wang, and Yue Wu. Determining the local dark matter density with LAMOST data. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 458(4):3839–3850, June 2016.
- [303] S. Sivertsson, H. Silverwood, J. I. Read, G. Bertone, and P. Steger. The local dark matter density from SDSS-SEGUE G-dwarfs. <u>Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.</u>, 478(2):1677–1693, August 2018.
- [304] Jatan Buch, John Shing Chau Leung, and JiJi Fan. Using Gaia DR2 to constrain local dark matter density and thin dark disk. JCAP, 2019(4):026, April 2019.
- [305] Rui Guo, Chao Liu, Shude Mao, Xiang-Xiang Xue, R. J. Long, and Lan Zhang. Measuring the local dark matter density with LAMOST DR5 and Gaia DR2. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 495(4):4828–4844, July 2020.
- [306] Jean-Baptiste Salomon, Olivier Bienaymé, Céline Reylé, Annie C. Robin, and Benoit Famaey. Kinematics and dynamics of Gaia red clump stars. Revisiting north-south asymmetries and dark matter density at large heights. <u>A&A</u>, 643:A75, November 2020.
- [307] A. Widmark, C. F. P. Laporte, P. F. de Salas, and G. Monari. Weighing the Galactic disk using phase-space spirals. II. Most stringent constraints on a thin dark disk using Gaia EDR3. A&A, 653:A86, September 2021.
- [308] S. Sivertsson, J. I. Read, H. Silverwood, P. F. de Salas, K. Malhan, A. Widmark, C. F. P. Laporte, S. Garbari, and K. Freese. Estimating the local dark matter density in a non-axisymmetric wobbling disc. <u>arXiv e-prints</u>, page arXiv:2201.01822, January 2022.
- [309] Andrzej K. Drukier, Katherine Freese, and David N. Spergel. Detecting cold darkmatter candidates. Phys. Rev. D, 33(12):3495–3508, June 1986.
- [310] T. Prusti et al. The Gaia Mission. <u>Astron. Astrophys.</u>, 595(Gaia Data Release 1):A1, 2016.
- [311] A. G. A. Brown et al. Gaia Data Release 2: Summary of the contents and survey properties. Astron. Astrophys., 616:A1, 2018.
- [312] Gaia Collaboration, A. G. A. Brown, A. Vallenari, T. Prusti, J. H. J. de Bruijne, C. Babusiaux, M. Biermann, O. L. Creevey, D. W. Evans, L. Eyer, A. Hutton, F. Jansen, C. Jordi, S. A. Klioner, U. Lammers, L. Lindegren, X. Luri, F. Mignard, C. Panem, D. Pourbaix, S. Randich, P. Sartoretti, C. Soubiran, N. A. Walton, F. Arenou, C. A. L. Bailer-Jones, U. Bastian, M. Cropper, R. Drimmel, D. Katz, M. G. Lattanzi, F. van Leeuwen, J. Bakker, C. Cacciari, J. Castañeda, F. De Angeli, C. Ducourant, C. Fabricius, M. Fouesneau, Y. Frémat, R. Guerra, A. Guerrier, J. Guiraud, A. Jean-Antoine Piccolo, E. Masana, R. Messineo, N. Mowlavi, C. Nicolas, K. Nienartowicz, F. Pailler, P. Panuzzo, F. Riclet, W. Roux, G. M. Seabroke,

R. Sordo, P. Tanga, F. Thévenin, G. Gracia-Abril, J. Portell, D. Teyssier, M. Altmann, R. Andrae, I. Bellas-Velidis, K. Benson, J. Berthier, R. Blomme, E. Brugaletta, P. W. Burgess, G. Busso, B. Carry, A. Cellino, N. Cheek, G. Clementini, Y. Damerdji, M. Davidson, L. Delchambre, A. Dell'Oro, J. Fernández-Hernández, L. Galluccio, P. García-Lario, M. Garcia-Reinaldos, J. González-Núñez, E. Gosset, R. Haigron, J. L. Halbwachs, N. C. Hambly, D. L. Harrison, D. Hatzidimitriou, U. Heiter, J. Hernández, D. Hestroffer, S. T. Hodgkin, B. Holl, K. Janßen, G. Jevardat de Fombelle, S. Jordan, A. Krone-Martins, A. C. Lanzafame, W. Löffler, A. Lorca, M. Manteiga, O. Marchal, P. M. Marrese, A. Moitinho, A. Mora, K. Muinonen, P. Osborne, E. Pancino, T. Pauwels, J. M. Petit, A. Recio-Blanco, P. J. Richards, M. Riello, L. Rimoldini, A. C. Robin, T. Roegiers, J. Rybizki, L. M. Sarro, C. Siopis, M. Smith, A. Sozzetti, A. Ulla, E. Utrilla, M. van Leeuwen, W. van Reeven, U. Abbas, A. Abreu Aramburu, S. Accart, C. Aerts, J. J. Aguado, M. Ajaj, G. Altavilla, M. A. Álvarez, J. Álvarez Cid-Fuentes, J. Alves, R. I. Anderson, E. Anglada Varela, T. Antoja, M. Audard, D. Baines, S. G. Baker, L. Balaguer-Núñez, E. Balbinot, Z. Balog, C. Barache, D. Barbato, M. Barros, M. A. Barstow, S. Bartolomé, J. L. Bassilana, N. Bauchet, A. Baudesson-Stella, U. Becciani, M. Bellazzini, M. Bernet, S. Bertone, L. Bianchi, S. Blanco-Cuaresma, T. Boch, A. Bombrun, D. Bossini, S. Bouquillon, A. Bragaglia, L. Bramante, E. Breedt, A. Bressan, N. Brouillet, B. Bucciarelli, A. Burlacu, D. Busonero, A. G. Butkevich, R. Buzzi, E. Caffau, R. Cancelliere, H. Cánovas, T. Cantat-Gaudin, R. Carballo, T. Carlucci, M. I. Carnerero, J. M. Carrasco, L. Casamiguela, M. Castellani, A. Castro-Ginard, P. Castro Sampol, L. Chaoul, P. Charlot, L. Chemin, A. Chiavassa, M. R. L. Cioni, G. Comoretto, W. J. Cooper, T. Cornez, S. Cowell, F. Crifo, M. Crosta, C. Crowley, C. Dafonte, A. Dapergolas, M. David, P. David, P. de Laverny, F. De Luise, R. De March, J. De Ridder, R. de Souza, P. de Teodoro, A. de Torres, E. F. del Peloso, E. del Pozo, M. Delbo, A. Delgado, H. E. Delgado, J. B. Delisle, P. Di Matteo, S. Diakite, C. Diener, E. Distefano, C. Dolding, D. Eappachen, B. Edvardsson, H. Enke, P. Esquei, C. Fabre, M. Fabrizio, S. Faigler, G. Fedorets, P. Fernique, A. Fienga, F. Figueras, C. Fouron, F. Fragkoudi, E. Fraile, F. Franke, M. Gai, D. Garabato, A. Garcia-Gutierrez, M. García-Torres, A. Garofalo, P. Gavras, E. Gerlach, R. Geyer, P. Giacobbe, G. Gilmore, S. Girona, G. Giuffrida, R. Gomel, A. Gomez, I. Gonzalez-Santamaria, J. J. González-Vidal, M. Granvik, R. Gutiérrez-Sánchez, L. P. Guy, M. Hauser, M. Haywood, A. Helmi, S. L. Hidalgo, T. Hilger, N. Hładczuk, D. Hobbs, G. Holland, H. E. Huckle, G. Jasniewicz, P. G. Jonker, J. Juaristi Campillo, F. Julbe, L. Karbevska, P. Kervella, S. Khanna, A. Kochoska, M. Kontizas, G. Kordopatis, A. J. Korn, Z. Kostrzewa-Rutkowska, K. Kruszyńska, S. Lambert, A. F. Lanza, Y. Lasne, J. F. Le Campion, Y. Le Fustec, Y. Lebreton, T. Lebzelter, S. Leccia, N. Leclerc, I. Lecoeur-Taibi, S. Liao, E. Licata, E. P. Lindstrøm, T. A. Lister, E. Livanou, A. Lobel, P. Madrero Pardo, S. Managau, R. G. Mann, J. M. Marchant, M. Marconi, M. M. S. Marcos Santos, S. Marinoni, F. Marocco, D. J. Marshall, L. Martin Polo, J. M. Martín-Fleitas, A. Masip, D. Massari, A. Mastrobuono-Battisti, T. Mazeh, P. J. McMillan, S. Messina, D. Michalik, N. R. Millar, A. Mints, D. Molina, R. Molinaro, L. Molnár, P. Montegriffo, R. Mor, R. Morbidelli, T. Morel, D. Morris, A. F. Mulone, D. Munoz, T. Muraveva, C. P. Murphy, I. Musella, L. Noval, C. Ordénovic, G. Orrù, J. Osinde, C. Pagani, I. Pagano, L. Palaversa, P. A. Palicio,

A. Panahi, M. Pawlak, X. Peñalosa Esteller, A. Penttilä, A. M. Piersimoni, F. X. Pineau, E. Plachy, G. Plum, E. Poggio, E. Poretti, E. Poujoulet, A. Prša, L. Pulone, E. Racero, S. Ragaini, M. Rainer, C. M. Raiteri, N. Rambaux, P. Ramos, M. Ramos-Lerate, P. Re Fiorentin, S. Regibo, C. Reylé, V. Ripepi, A. Riva, G. Rixon, N. Robichon, C. Robin, M. Roelens, L. Rohrbasser, M. Romero-Gómez, N. Rowell, F. Royer, K. A. Rybicki, G. Sadowski, A. Sagristà Sellés, J. Sahlmann, J. Salgado, E. Salguero, N. Samaras, V. Sanchez Gimenez, N. Sanna, R. Santoveña, M. Sarasso, M. Schultheis, E. Sciacca, M. Segol, J. C. Segovia, D. Ségransan, D. Semeux, S. Shahaf, H. I. Siddiqui, A. Siebert, L. Siltala, E. Slezak, R. L. Smart, E. Solano, F. Solitro, D. Souami, J. Souchay, A. Spagna, F. Spoto, I. A. Steele, H. Steidelmüller, C. A. Stephenson, M. Süveges, L. Szabados, E. Szegedi-Elek, F. Taris, G. Tauran, M. B. Taylor, R. Teixeira, W. Thuillot, N. Tonello, F. Torra, J. Torra, C. Turon, N. Unger, M. Vaillant, E. van Dillen, O. Vanel, A. Vecchiato, Y. Viala, D. Vicente, S. Voutsinas, M. Weiler, T. Wevers, Ł. Wyrzykowski, A. Yoldas, P. Yvard, H. Zhao, J. Zorec, S. Zucker, C. Zurbach, and T. Zwitter. Gaia Early Data Release 3. Summary of the contents and survey properties. A&A, 649:A1, May 2021.

- [313] J. I. Read. The Local Dark Matter Density. J. Phys. G, 41:063101, 2014.
- [314] A. K. Drukier, Katherine Freese, and D. N. Spergel. Detecting Cold Dark Matter Candidates. Phys. Rev. D, 33:3495–3508, 1986.
- [315] Amina Helmi. Streams, Substructures, and the Early History of the Milky Way. <u>Ann.</u> Rev. Astron. Astrophys., 58(1):205–256, 2020.
- [316] Lina Necib, Mariangela Lisanti, Shea Garrison-Kimmel, Andrew Wetzel, Robyn Sanderson, Philip F. Hopkins, Claude-André Faucher-Giguère, and Dušan Kereš. Under the FIRElight: Stellar Tracers of the Local Dark Matter Velocity Distribution in the Milky Way. ApJ, 883(1):27, September 2019.
- [317] Lina Necib, Mariangela Lisanti, and Vasily Belokurov. Inferred Evidence for Dark Matter Kinematic Substructure with SDSS-Gaia. ApJ, 874(1):3, March 2019.
- [318] Matthew R. Buckley, Gopolang Mohlabeng, and Christopher W. Murphy. Direct Detection Anomalies in light of *Gaia* Data. Phys. Rev. D, 100(5):055039, 2019.
- [319] Jatan Buch, Manuel A. Buen-Abad, Jiji Fan, and John Shing Chau Leung. Dark Matter Substructure under the Electron Scattering Lamppost. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 102(8):083010, 2020.
- [320] Jatan Buch, JiJi Fan, and John Shing Chau Leung. Implications of the Gaia Sausage for Dark Matter Nuclear Interactions. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 101(6):063026, 2020.
- [321] Katherine Freese, Joshua A. Frieman, and Andrew Gould. Signal Modulation in Cold Dark Matter Detection. Phys. Rev. D, 37:3388–3405, 1988.
- [322] V. Belokurov, D. Erkal, N. W. Evans, S. E. Koposov, and A. J. Deason. Co-formation of the disc and the stellar halo. <u>Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.</u>, 478(1):611–619, July 2018.

- [323] G. C. Myeong, N. W. Evans, V. Belokurov, N. C. Amorisco, and S. E. Koposov. Halo substructure in the SDSS-Gaia catalogue: streams and clumps. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 475(2):1537–1548, April 2018.
- [324] Lina Necib, Bryan Ostdiek, Mariangela Lisanti, Timothy Cohen, Marat Freytsis, Shea Garrison-Kimmel, Philip F. Hopkins, Andrew Wetzel, and Robyn Sanderson. Evidence for a vast prograde stellar stream in the solar vicinity. <u>Nature Astronomy</u>, 4:1078–1083, July 2020.
- [325] Rohan P. Naidu, Charlie Conroy, Ana Bonaca, Benjamin D. Johnson, Yuan-Sen Ting, Nelson Caldwell, Dennis Zaritsky, and Phillip A. Cargile. Evidence from the H3 Survey That the Stellar Halo Is Entirely Comprised of Substructure. <u>ApJ</u>, 901(1):48, September 2020.
- [326] S. Sofie Lövdal, Tomás Ruiz-Lara, Helmer H. Koppelman, Tadafumi Matsuno, Emma Dodd, and Amina Helmi. Substructure in the stellar halo near the Sun.
 I. Data-driven clustering in Integrals of Motion space. <u>arXiv e-prints</u>, page arXiv:2201.02404, January 2022.
- [327] Tomás Ruiz-Lara, Tadafumi Matsuno, S. Sofie Lövdal, Amina Helmi, Emma Dodd, and Helmer H. Koppelman. Substructure in the stellar halo near the Sun. II. Characterisation of independent structures. <u>arXiv e-prints</u>, page arXiv:2201.02405, January 2022.
- [328] Patrick J. Fox, Jia Liu, and Neal Weiner. Integrating Out Astrophysical Uncertainties. Phys. Rev. D, 83:103514, 2011.
- [329] Paolo Gondolo and Graciela B. Gelmini. Halo independent comparison of direct dark matter detection data. JCAP, 12:015, 2012.
- [330] Muping Chen, Graciela B. Gelmini, and Volodymyr Takhistov. Halo-independent analysis of direct dark matter detection through electron scattering. JCAP, 12(12):048, 2021.
- [331] Ciaran A. J. O'Hare, Christopher McCabe, N. Wyn Evans, GyuChul Myeong, and Vasily Belokurov. Dark matter hurricane: Measuring the S1 stream with dark matter detectors. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 98(10):103006, 2018.
- [332] Ciaran A. J. O'Hare, N. Wyn Evans, Christopher McCabe, GyuChul Myeong, and Vasily Belokurov. Velocity substructure from Gaia and direct searches for dark matter. Phys. Rev. D, 101(2):023006, 2020.
- [333] Youjia Wu, Katherine Freese, Chris Kelso, Patrick Stengel, and Monica Valluri. Uncertainties in Direct Dark Matter Detection in Light of Gaia's Escape Velocity Measurements. JCAP, 10:034, 2019.
- [334] Aria Radick, Anna-Maria Taki, and Tien-Tien Yu. Dependence of Dark Matter -Electron Scattering on the Galactic Dark Matter Velocity Distribution. JCAP, 02:004, 2021.

- [335] M. G. Aartsen et al. Neutrino emission from the direction of the blazar TXS 0506+056 prior to the IceCube-170922A alert. Science, 361(6398):147–151, 2018.
- [336] Robert Stein et al. A tidal disruption event coincident with a high-energy neutrino. Nature Astron., 5(5):510–518, 2021.
- [337] Cosimo Nigro, Tarek Hassan, and Laura Olivera-Nieto. Evolution of Data Formats in Very-High-Energy Gamma-Ray Astronomy. Universe, 7(10):374, 2021.
- [338] C. Nigro et al. Towards open and reproducible multi-instrument analysis in gammaray astronomy. Astron. Astrophys., 625:A10, 2019.
- [339] Laura Olivera-Nieto et al. Standardized formats for gamma-ray analysis applied to HAWC observatory data. PoS, ICRC2021:727, 2021.
- [340] Giacomo Vianello, Robert J. Lauer, Patrick Younk, Luigi Tibaldo, James M. Burgess, Hugo Ayala, Patrick Harding, Michelle Hui, Nicola Omodei, and Hao Zhou. The Multi-Mission Maximum Likelihood framework (3ML). 7 2015.
- [341] Shin'ichiro Ando and Eiichiro Komatsu. Anisotropy of the cosmic gamma-ray background from dark matter annihilation. Phys. Rev. D, 73:023521, 2006.
- [342] Shin'ichiro Ando, Eiichiro Komatsu, Takuro Narumoto, and Tomonori Totani. Dark matter annihilation or unresolved astrophysical sources? Anisotropy probe of the origin of cosmic gamma-ray background. Phys. Rev. D, 75:063519, 2007.
- [343] M. Ackermann et al. Anisotropies in the diffuse gamma-ray background measured by the Fermi LAT. Phys. Rev. D, 85:083007, 2012.
- [344] Mattia Fornasa et al. Angular power spectrum of the diffuse gamma-ray emission as measured by the Fermi Large Area Telescope and constraints on its dark matter interpretation. Phys. Rev. D, 94(12):123005, 2016.
- [345] M. Ackermann et al. Unresolved Gamma-Ray Sky through its Angular Power Spectrum. Phys. Rev. Lett., 121(24):241101, 2018.
- [346] Dmitry Malyshev and David W. Hogg. Statistics of gamma-ray point sources below the Fermi detection limit. Astrophys. J., 738:181, 2011.
- [347] Samuel K. Lee, Mariangela Lisanti, and Benjamin R. Safdi. Distinguishing Dark Matter from Unresolved Point Sources in the Inner Galaxy with Photon Statistics. JCAP, 05:056, 2015.
- [348] Samuel K. Lee, Mariangela Lisanti, Benjamin R. Safdi, Tracy R. Slatyer, and Wei Xue. Evidence for Unresolved γ -Ray Point Sources in the Inner Galaxy. <u>Phys. Rev.</u> Lett., 116(5):051103, 2016.
- [349] Siddharth Mishra-Sharma, Nicholas L. Rodd, and Benjamin R. Safdi. NPTFit: A code package for Non-Poissonian Template Fitting. Astron. J., 153(6):253, 2017.

- [350] M. G. Aartsen et al. A Search for Neutrino Point-source Populations in 7 yr of IceCube Data with Neutrino-count Statistics. Astrophys. J., 893(2):102, 2020.
- [351] Rebecca K. Leane and Tracy R. Slatyer. Revival of the Dark Matter Hypothesis for the Galactic Center Gamma-Ray Excess. Phys. Rev. Lett., 123(24):241101, 2019.
- [352] Rebecca K. Leane and Tracy R. Slatyer. Spurious Point Source Signals in the Galactic Center Excess. Phys. Rev. Lett., 125(12):121105, 2020.
- [353] Rebecca K. Leane and Tracy R. Slatyer. The enigmatic Galactic Center excess: Spurious point sources and signal mismodeling. Phys. Rev. D, 102(6):063019, 2020.
- [354] Malte Buschmann, Nicholas L. Rodd, Benjamin R. Safdi, Laura J. Chang, Siddharth Mishra-Sharma, Mariangela Lisanti, and Oscar Macias. Foreground Mismodeling and the Point Source Explanation of the Fermi Galactic Center Excess. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 102(2):023023, 2020.
- [355] Laura J. Chang, Siddharth Mishra-Sharma, Mariangela Lisanti, Malte Buschmann, Nicholas L. Rodd, and Benjamin R. Safdi. Characterizing the nature of the unresolved point sources in the Galactic Center: An assessment of systematic uncertainties. Phys. Rev. D, 101(2):023014, 2020.
- [356] Gabriel H. Collin, Nicholas L. Rodd, Tyler Erjavec, and Kerstin Perez. A Compound Poisson Generator approach to Point-Source Inference in Astrophysics. 4 2021.
- [357] Sascha Caron, Germán A. Gómez-Vargas, Luc Hendriks, and Roberto Ruiz de Austri. Analyzing γ -rays of the Galactic Center with Deep Learning. JCAP, 05:058, 2018.
- [358] Florian List, Nicholas L. Rodd, Geraint F. Lewis, and Ishaan Bhat. The GCE in a New Light: Disentangling the γ -ray Sky with Bayesian Graph Convolutional Neural Networks. 6 2020.
- [359] Florian List, Nicholas L. Rodd, and Geraint F. Lewis. Extracting the Galactic Center excess' source-count distribution with neural nets. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 104(12):123022, 2021.
- [360] Siddharth Mishra-Sharma and Kyle Cranmer. A neural simulation-based inference approach for characterizing the Galactic Center γ -ray excess. 10 2021.
- [361] I. Daubechies. Ten lectures on wavelets. January 1992.
- [362] J. L. Starck and F. Murtaugh. Astronomical Image and Data Analysis. 2006.
- [363] Richard Bartels, Suraj Krishnamurthy, and Christoph Weniger. Strong support for the millisecond pulsar origin of the Galactic center GeV excess. <u>Phys. Rev. Lett.</u>, 116(5):051102, 2016.
- [364] Yi-Ming Zhong, Samuel D. McDermott, Ilias Cholis, and Patrick J. Fox. Testing the Sensitivity of the Galactic Center Excess to the Point Source Mask. <u>Phys. Rev. Lett.</u>, 124(23):231103, 2020.

- [365] Shin'ichiro Ando. Power spectrum tomography of dark matter annihilation with local galaxy distribution. JCAP, 10:061, 2014.
- [366] Shin'ichiro Ando, Aurélien Benoit-Lévy, and Eiichiro Komatsu. Mapping dark matter in the gamma-ray sky with galaxy catalogs. Phys. Rev. D, 90(2):023514, 2014.
- [367] Stefano Camera, Mattia Fornasa, Nicolao Fornengo, and Marco Regis. A Novel Approach in the Weakly Interacting Massive Particle Quest: Cross-correlation of Gamma-Ray Anisotropies and Cosmic Shear. Astrophys. J. Lett., 771:L5, 2013.
- [368] Stefano Camera, Mattia Fornasa, Nicolao Fornengo, and Marco Regis. Tomographicspectral approach for dark matter detection in the cross-correlation between cosmic shear and diffuse γ -ray emission. JCAP, 06:029, 2015.
- [369] Alessandro Cuoco, Jun-Qing Xia, Marco Regis, Enzo Branchini, Nicolao Fornengo, and Matteo Viel. Dark Matter Searches in the Gamma-ray Extragalactic Background via Cross-correlations With Galaxy Catalogs. <u>Astrophys. J. Suppl.</u>, 221(2):29, 2015.
- [370] Alessandro Cuoco, Maciej Bilicki, Jun-Qing Xia, and Enzo Branchini. Tomographic imaging of the Fermi-LAT gamma-ray sky through cross-correlations: A wider and deeper look. Astrophys. J. Suppl., 232:10, 2017.
- [371] Masato Shirasaki, Shunsaku Horiuchi, and Naoki Yoshida. Cross-Correlation of Cosmic Shear and Extragalactic Gamma-ray Background: Constraints on the Dark Matter Annihilation Cross-Section. Phys. Rev. D, 90(6):063502, 2014.
- [372] Tilman Tröster et al. Cross-correlation of weak lensing and gamma rays: implications for the nature of dark matter. <u>Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.</u>, 467(3):2706–2722, 2017.
- [373] Masato Shirasaki, Oscar Macias, Shunsaku Horiuchi, Naoki Yoshida, Chien-Hsiu Lee, and Atsushi J. Nishizawa. Correlation of extragalactic γ rays with cosmic matter density distributions from weak gravitational lensing. <u>Phys. Rev. D</u>, 97(12):123015, 2018.
- [374] S. Ammazzalorso et al. Detection of Cross-Correlation between Gravitational Lensing and γ Rays. Phys. Rev. Lett., 124(10):101102, 2020.